FACULDADE DE ENGENHARIA DA UNIVERSIDADE DO PORTO



# Robot Localization in an Agricultural Environment

Teresa Conceição

Mestrado Integrado em Engenharia Eletrotécnica e de Computadores

Supervisor: Paulo Costa Second Supervisor: António Paulo Moreira

January 22, 2018

© Teresa Conceição, 2017

## Resumo

Localização e Mapeamento de robôs autónomos em ambientes complexos e instáveis, como uma vinha montanhosa, tem geralmente associadas algumas limitações de implementação. A comumente utilizada Navegação Estimada (Dead Reckoning) pode falhar devido às condições do terreno assim como o Global Position System (GPS) que nem sempre é fiável devido a ruído ou falhas de sinal. Particularmente, estas falhas são facilmente observáveis em meios agrícolas. Estes têm vindo a receber bastante interesesse nos últimos anos devido ao recente crescimento de sistemas de agricultura de precisão, nomeadamente sistemas de monitorização avançada em redes de sensores sem fios. Este tipo de sensores podem ser instalados em áreas de colheita por exemplo, e utilizados como marcadores de referência para localização robótica.

Neste trabalho, a performance do Pozyx, uma solução de localização baseada em Tempo de Voo com comunicação em Banda Ultra Larga é avaliada e implementada no AgRob V16, um robô agrícola de pesquisa científica desenvolvido pelo INESC TEC. Primeiramente, o erro tanto do sistema de medição de distâncias como do algoritmo de localização é caracterizado, formulando bases para a implementação de um filtro de estimação. O Filtro de Kalman Estendido é aplicado para a fusão de medidas do sensor com os dados da odometria do robô, estimando uma posição e uma orientação.

Os resultados obtidos são comparados com o algoritmo nativo do Pozyx bem como com outras implementações anteriores, mostrando a fiabilidade da tecnologia de Banda Ultra Larga para este tipo de sistemas. Para além disso, o sistema mostra ser uma alternativa para aumentar a redundância da localização necessária em sistemas complexos e sem acesso a GPS.

ii

## Abstract

Localization and Mapping of autonomous robots in an harsh and unstable environment such as a steep slope vineyard is a challenging research topic. The commonly used Dead Reckoning systems can fail due to the harsh conditions of the terrain and the accurate Global Position System can be considerably noisy or not always available.

More specifically, agricultural environments, which have received increased attention lately, can suffer from most of these constraints. Agriculture is moving towards a precision agriculture, with advanced monitoring systems and wireless sensors networks. These systems and wireless sensors are installed in the crop field and can be considered relevant landmarks for robot localization using different types of technologies.

In this work, the performance of Pozyx, a low cost Time-of-flight solution with Ultra-Wideband (UWB) technology, is studied and implemented on INESC TEC's AgRob, a R&D agricultural robot, through a beacon-based localization scheme. Firstly, the error of both the range-only system and the embedded localization algorithm of the sensor is characterized. Then the range measurements are filtered and fused with the Odometry values by an Extended Kalman Filter algorithm to output the robot pose and finally compared with the localization algorithm of the sensor.

The obtained results are presented and compared with previous works showing an increased redundancy of the robot localization estimation. The UWB is proved to offer a good solution for harsh environments, as the agricultural one, since its range-measurements are considerably robust to environmental conditions (until a certain point). The discussion also allows to present formulations for better results of Beacons Mapping Procedure (BMP) required for accurate and reliable localization systems.

iv

## Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisors Dr. António Paulo Moreira and Dr. Paulo Costa for all support (and patience!), confidence in my work and guidance through not only my thesis research time but also along my entire student pathway at FEUP.

Secondly, but not least important, I would like to thank Filipe Santos for his amazing work in the AgRob project. Despite not being "my official advisor", he has been of great support and help in every way possible to all "the newbies" in the team.

Lastly, and because thank you notes are better said than written, I shortly want to thank all of the people that have crossed paths in my academic and personal life for either one single day or for over 20 years, especially my parents for all the love and support and all my friends of endless adventures that watched me grow and grew with me!

Thank you,

Teresa Conceição

vi

"In theory there is no difference between theory and practice. In practice there is"

Jan L. A. van de Snepscheut

viii

# Contents

1	Intr	oduction	I Construction of the second se	1				
	1.1	Context	t and Motivation	1				
	1.2	Thesis (	Outline and Objectives	2				
2	Bacl	kground	and Related Work	5				
	2.1	Non Ra	inge-Based Technologies	5				
		2.1.1	Dead Reckoning	5				
		2.1.2	Visual Odometery	6				
	2.2	Landma	ark and Beacon Based Localization	6				
		2.2.1	Ranging Techniques	7				
		2.2.2	Positioning Methods	8				
		2.2.3	Technologies	10				
	2.3	Fusion	and Estimation Algorithms	15				
		2.3.1	Gaussian Filters	15				
		2.3.2	Nonparametric Filters	17				
		2.3.3	Simultaneous Localization and Mapping	19				
	2.4	Agricul	Itural Robots	19				
		2.4.1	Localization	20				
3	Approach and Algorithms Developed 23							
	3.1	Localiz	ation Methods and Technologies	23				
	3.2	2D Bea	con-Based Localization	23				
	3.3	Implem	ented Algorithms	24				
		3.3.1	Extended Kalman Filter	25				
4	Exp	erimenta	al Methodology	31				
	4.1	Researc	ch Platforms Description	31				
		4.1.1	AgRob V16	31				
		4.1.2	Pozyx System	32				
		4.1.3	UWB configuration	33				
	4.2	Experin	nental Tests	34				
		4.2.1	Test Environment	34				
		4.2.2	Pozyx Error Characterization	35				
		4.2.3	Localization Tests	36				
		4.2.4	Localization in a real vineyard scenario	37				

5	5 Results and Discussion		
	5.1	Pozyx Error Characterization	39
		5.1.1 Indoor Test	39
		5.1.2 Positioning Outdoor Test	41
		5.1.3 Range Outdoor Test	43
	5.2	Outdoor Localization Test	44
	5.3	Vineyard Localization Test	46
6	Con	clusions and Future Work	51
Re	feren	ices	53

# **List of Figures**

2.1	Ranging Techniques	8
2.2	Angle of Arrival	9
2.3	Multipath and Ionosphere Errors in GPS measurements	10
2.4	Comparisson of Multipath in Narrow Bandwidth signals and in Ultra-Wideband	
	signals	13
2.5	Emitting power regulations for unlicensed spectrum (FCC)	14
2.6	Different state representation in probabilistic localization algorithms	18
2.7	Harvesting Robot	20
2.8	<i>Wall-Ye</i> [86] in a pruning task	20
3.1	2D Localization given measurements to beacons with known position	24
3.2	Odometry State Transition Model	27
3.3	Range Observation Model	27
3.4	Mahalanobis' distance with different thresholds applied to a multivariate distribu-	
	tion. Outliers are removed if they are outside of a specific ellipse that represents	
	a certain probability in the distribution. The different ellipses represent different	
	MD's and hence different probability thresholds.	29
3.5	Effect of $P/R$ ratio in a Kalman Filter propagation error. Reprinted from [107]	30
4.1	AgRob V.14	31
4.2	AgRob V.16	31
4.3	Architecture of a Pozyx Tag. Retrieved from [109]	32
4.4	Experimental Tests under NLOS and LOS situations in a indoor environment.	
	Adapted from [109]	33
4.5	Outdoor Environment for Localization and Pozyx Error Range Tests	35
4.6	Indoor test setup. The Pozyx Tag was positioned at different positions marked as	
	red crosses in the image and both ranges and positions were extracted	36
4.7	Outdoor Positioning test setup. The Pozyx beacons were the corners of a 20 m x	
	20 m square. Different positions were extracted in an outer square (30m x 30m)	
	as well as in an inner square $(10 \text{ m x } 10 \text{ m})$	36
4.8	Pozyx Range Test setup	36
4.9	Outdoor Test of Pozyx Positioning and EKF Localization. The stars show the	
	beacons placement referent to the robot (rectangle)	37
4.10	AgRob Localization Tests in Quinta do Seixo	37
4.11	Beacon placement in a vineyard trellis	37
5.1	Pozyx Tag reference frame. The UWB antenna is the white chip on top. Retrive	
	from [111]	40

5.2	Pozyx UWB-only algorithm estimated positions with respective 95% confidence	
	ellipses	1
5.3	Pozyx Range Error Characterization Results	2
5.4	Pozyx UWB-only algorithm results for UWB channel 7	2
5.5	Pozyx Ranges Error for Different Orientations	4
5.6	Pozyx Ranges Error Distribution for Vertical Front orientation	4
5.7	Standard Deviations over distance	5
5.8	Received Signal Strength for different distances and orientations	5
5.9	EKF Localization Tunning	6
5.10	Ranging measurements over time in the Outdoor Localization Test	7
5.11	EKF Localization and Pozyx UWB-only algorithm results comparison 4'	7
5.12	Pozyx Algorithm and EKF Localization on Different trajectories	8
5.13	Ranging measurements over time in the Vineyard Localization Test	8
5.14	Localization Estimation in a Vineyard Environment	9

# **List of Tables**

4.1	Pozyx's UWB Channel Characteristics	34
5.1	Pozyx UWB-only algorithm performance in two different channels. All the metrics were computed after the outlier detection phase	41
5.2	Refers to the performance results for different antenna orientations. Under 10 meters the results don't follow any specific pattern and are always around the	
	same values so only their average is presented.	43
5.3	Impact of different EKF Tunning Parameters on Localization	49

# Abreviaturas e Símbolos

AOA	Angle of Arrival
BMP	Beacons Mapping Procedure
DGPS	Diferential Global Positioning System
EKF	Extended Kalman Filter
FCC	Federal Communications Commission
GNSS	Global Navigation Satellite System
GPS	Global Positioning System
IMU	Inertial Measurement Unit
INESC TEC	Institute for Systems and Computer Engineering, Technology and Science
KF	Kalman Filter
LIDAR	Light Detection And Ranging
LOS	Line-Of-Sight
LSR	Laser Range Finder
MD	Mahalanobis' distance
MCL	Monte Carlo Localization
NLOS	Non-Line-Of-Sight
NOI	Node of Interes
PF	Particle Filter
PPP	Precision Point Positioning
PRF	Pulse Repetition Frequency
RBPF	Rao-Blackwellized Particle Filer
R&D	Research and Development
RBE	Recursive Bayesian Estimators
RSE	Recursive State Estimators
RFID	Radio-Frequency IDentification
RMSE	Root Mean Square Error
RSS	Received Signal Strength
RSSI	Received Signal Strength Indicator
RTK	Real Time Kinematic
SBAS	Satellite Based Augmentation System
SLAM	Simultaneous Localization and Mapping
STD	Standard Deviation
SOG	Sum of Gaussian
TDoA	Time Difference of Arrivel
ToF	Time of Flight
UAV	Unmanned Aerial Vehicle
UKF	Unscented Kalman Filter
UWB	Ultra-Wideband
ViTruDe	Vineyards Trunks and Masts Detector
VO	Visual Odometry
WLAN	Wireless Local Area Network
WO	Wheel Odometry

## Chapter 1

## Introduction

Localization and mapping are one of the key features of a truly autonomous robot application which must be aware of its environment in order to locate itself and navigate through its surroundings. Thrun, in his book "Probabilistic Robotics" [1], defines Mobile Robot Localization as "*the most basic perceptual problem in robotics*". Every robotic task is based upon the assumption of an intrinsically good knowledge of the location of the robot and the objects around. It is essentially the problem of determining the position and orientation (often referred as Pose) of the robot relative to a given map.

Although there are several accurate technologies for this purpose on regular stable conditions, the problem remains a difficult challenge when facing dynamic and complex environments. More specifically, robot localization in agricultural environments is a topic with an ongoing research interest, not only because of the growing industry of precision agriculture but also because of the severe conditions that a robot may face. The dense vegetation can cause signal blockage and multipath interference drastically reducing the efficiency of the widely used Global Positioning System (GPS). Visual perception systems can also fail due to weather conditions and not even the usually reliable dead reckoning systems can give an accurate localization since they also suffer from the harsh terrain shape. In this way, a reliable steep slope robot needs a redundant localization system which uses several sources of information to overcome all these issues.

This dissertation studies the implementation of an accurate system that aims to improve the redundancy of mobile localization in agricultural scenarios. Having system redundancy from different sources of information is extremely important especially to overcome GPS failures.

### 1.1 Context and Motivation

This work comes in the scope of AgRob, an Institute for Systems and Computer Engineering, Technology and Science (INESC TEC) robot, built for research and development of robotics in agriculture. AgRob is supposed to navigate through vineyards doing several different tasks like monitoring, trimming or harvesting. Most vineyards, especially those in the Douro Region, Portugal, are built on steep slope hills, a harsh environment for Robot Localization. Different approaches have been studied by INESC TEC researchers in the past years. In [2], a redundant localization solution for mountain vineyards based on the identification of natural features by Laser Range Finder (LRF) measurements which can cope with the lack of access to Global Navigation Satellite System (GNSS) is presented. Trunks and masts were chosen as the natural features given their structured presence in each vineyard row and their visual detection procedure, ViTruDe - Vineyards Trunks and Masts Detector, was presented in [3].

Despite being a slight improvement, natural feature detection is still highly dependent on environmental conditions and was also proved to be less reliable on the row transitions of the vineyards since there are no vine masts or trunks on sight. Additionally, in [4], an artificial landmark mapping procedure is proposed, called Beacons Mapping Procedure (BMP). BMP can map automatically Radio Frequency Identification (RFID) tags that are placed in the begin/end of each vineyard row. All of the above are meant to be an input for our hybrid SLAM approach (VineSLAM) [2] in order to give redundant information. However, the implementation of ViTrude is still too slow for real-time use, so the current localization system only fuses LIDAR, odometry and *iBeacons*.

### **1.2 Thesis Outline and Objectives**

Following these motivations, the main objectives of this thesis can be summarized as follows:

- Analyse different techniques and technologies for mobile robot localization and choose the best approach to deal with agricultural environments;
- Increase the redundancy of AgRob's localization and thus its robustness, safety and precision. The current localization system achieves precisions of around 30 cm, but a 10-20cm range is desired not only for safe and reliable navigation but also for more specific tasks involving the plants or grapes;
- Study the implementation of low-cost Time-Of-Flight (ToF) sensors for an accurate localization system.

Consequently, the work develops around a beacon-based localization system through the use of a low-cost ToF technology along with Ultra-Wideband (UWB) communication. Pozyx, the chosen positioning and ranging platform, is deeply characterized as a complementary alternative tool to the previous works on AgRob. The fusion of its ranges with Odometry values is considered by the means of an Extended Kalman Filter (EKF) and compared against Pozyx's own localization algorithm. The obtained results are presented and discussed and allow to present formulations for better results of accurate and reliable localization systems.

The structure of the thesis is organized in 4 major areas. Firstly, chapter 2 introduces the state of the art in robot localization with more emphasis on the agricultural case at the end. Chapter 3 explains our chosen approaches to deal with the problem and describes their theoretical implementation. Furthermore, in chapter 4, practical considerations of Pozyx and AgRob are explained and the methodology of experiments is described. Finally, the results of the tests are demonstrated

and discussed in chapter 5 followed by some final conclusions and suggestions of future work in chapter 6.

Introduction

## **Chapter 2**

## **Background and Related Work**

Mobile robot localization is one the key functionalities of a truly autonomous system and has been subject of a great research attention over the years. In order to successfully navigate, a robot must be completely aware of its position and orientation relative to the environment. Localization, however, can be a quite challenging process so choosing the right methods and technologies must take some factors into consideration. Among them, the following can be highlighted:

- Target application;
- Nature, dynamics and complexity of the environment;
- Device mobility;
- Communication and synchronization costs between system nodes
- Computational power and energy requirements
- Error and scalability requirements

In this chapter, an overview of the existing technologies and techniques for robot localization will be presented and explored, giving advantages, disadvantages and applications for each case. First, we describe non range-based sources of information followed by a more deep characterization of range-based localization, also defining different ranging and positioning methodologies. A special emphasis is given to the Ultra-Wideband case since it is the technology used in our implementation. In addition, filtering and fusion algorithms are analyzed in section 2.3. Finally, we present the current state of the art of all the previously described approaches in the context of agricultural robots.

### 2.1 Non Range-Based Technologies

#### 2.1.1 Dead Reckoning

**Dead Reckoning** uses wheel odometry (WO) information and the Inertial Measurement Unit (IMU) to integrate the position of the robot from wheel encoders and/or inertial sensors such

as accelerometers and gyroscopes [5]. It processes the current state by fusing the previous determined position with changes in motion that occurred in the meantime. Although it is not a form of absolute localization, it is probably the most accessible form of position information. It is inexpensive and provides good short-term accuracy and high sampling rates. On the other hand, slippage and uneven terrains can be source of error when calculating the robot's motion. WO is also limited to wheeled ground vehicles and because it depends on previous measurements, the error will be cumulative over time which may also lead to divergences. Consequently, for outdoor complex environments and longer distances it should be fused with other sensors to keep the uncertainty bounded.

#### 2.1.2 Visual Odometery

**Visual Odometry (VO)** acquires robot motion information from a single camera or stereo vision system. Despite requiring considerable more computational power, it can overcome some of the standard wheel odometry limitations like the inability to provide good information in irregular terrains. It is, however, still source of unbounded growth error since it estimates relative motion, highly dependent on previous measurements. Thus, like WO, VO should always be fused with another form of absolute localization technology.

It is not so commonly used as the other approaches but the growing popularity of evolutionary and learning algorithms have given this technique a lot of research attention lately.

One of the most important applications of VO are the non-standard robot locomotion systems like Unmanned Aerial Vehicles (UAVs) since they can not use standard wheel odometry [6] [7].

Mars exploration rovers, in GPS-denied environments, were other successful application of this technology [8]. The method was shown to be independent of terrain geometry and to outperform WO over longer periods of time. Additionally, fusion of standard dead reckoning with a monocular vision system also showed to accurately extract environment structure and robot localization [9].

### 2.2 Landmark and Beacon Based Localization

To get an absolute localization estimation is necessary to have absolute references in the world, usually called landmarks or beacons. A Wireless Sensor Network can be configured to be used as a localization system. In these approaches, typically the systems use reference points and its distances or angles to one or more Nodes of Interest (NOI) in order to estimate the required positions. These reference points are usually static either mapped a priori or with an unknown position which is dynamically determined.

An important notion is the difference between beacons and landmarks. The first term is usually employed for markers who once detected can yield immediately one or more coordinates. Conversely, using one beacon alone is not enough to have a proper position. They need to be used in a network of several beacons or use other types of information like angles from a compass. Artificial and natural landmarks are also differentiated in the literature. The first can simply be reflective markers but are often another type of sensor nodes. They have the shortcoming of requiring extra hardware components and more communication overhead whereas natural landmarks are already part of the robot's environment. On the other hand, the computational complexity for recognizing and mapping natural features is higher and not as reliable.

#### 2.2.1 Ranging Techniques

Sensors measurements alone are not enough to localize a determined node so there is the need to come up with techniques to process ranging data to extract a position.

#### 2.2.1.1 Received Signal Strength

Taking advantage of the fact that signal strength decays with distance, many sensors can estimate the distance to a node by the received signal strength indicator (RSSI). Empiric propagation models are explored to yield an estimated distance from the measured power of the received radio signal. Nevertheless, measuring this can be a tricky and noisy process by default. The directed signal is often attenuated and even damaged by multipath effects and signal reflections, commonly found in everyday environments. These factors may induce variations and noise into the measurements making it a not so reliable source of information. The RSSI is widely used in communications protocols like Bluetooth and WIFI [10]. It is an interesting solution for applications with power constraints or whose goal is to only get a feeling of proximity, i.e., applications where the presence of an object or how close is it to the user are enough information. However, for precise localization, it performs poorer than other techniques.

#### 2.2.1.2 Time of Flight

Time of Flight (TOF) measures the travel time between the transmission and the reception of a signal. In its most simple form, the receiver can directly calculate the distance from the transmitter by multiplying the time of flight by the speed of propagation. This approach, however, assumes that the nodes are synchronized which is not always achievable due to system requirements. A two-way range methodology can cope with the lack of synchronization using only the knowledge of the turn-around time and the requester own clock. The distance is calculated by extracting the time that it takes to the signal to be sent by the transmitter, acknowledged in the receiver and mirrored back to the transmitter (round trip time). Without the necessity for synchronization, the distances from each node can be calculated independently making the overall system easily scalable. The main disadvantage of this method is that each node must act as a transmitter and receiver which can present some implementation challenges for some types of applications.

#### 2.2.1.3 Time Difference of Arrival

In the presence of a partial-synchronized system, i.e there is no synchronization between the target and the reference nodes but there is synchronization among beacons, Time Difference of Arrival (TDOA) can be used. This technique implies estimating the difference in the travel times between the NOI and two different reference beacons. In a TDOA operation, each pair of beacons will calculate the time of arrival of a periodical broadcasted signal and the desired distances can be induced. The communication operation between robot and beacons is in general simpler and more efficient than the TOF case. On the anchor side, however, there are a few major requirements that explain why TDOA, despite being efficient on the tag side, has not been widely implemented. The beacons need to be accurately synchronized with each other and in a continuously receiving mode which can be quite power-hungry. For this reason, ToF is usually preferred among the time-based methods since it is an accurate and more balanced implementation.



Figure 2.1: Ranging Techniques

#### 2.2.2 Positioning Methods

Most common range-based positioning methods use either Trilateration/Multilateration (extract position from distances) or Triangulation (extract position from angles):

#### 2.2.2.1 Trilateration

Trilateration is a localization method based on simple geometric concepts. Given a specific node and its distances to a number of references with known positions (they don't need to be fixed as long as their positions are certain), the unknown location and/or orientation can be determined. Each estimated distance will become the radius of a circle with the NOI as the center. Collecting at least 3 measurements from 3 non-collinear points, the intersection of the circles will output the desired position as depicted in Figure 2.1a. In theory, this intersection will be a single point. However, in the practical case, the measurements are subject to noise and uncertainty so this intersection will be in fact be a region of points. Different optimization algorithms can then be used to estimate the most probable position in this region. By increasing the number of beacons the uncertainty will inherently decrease. For a simpler explanation, the 2D case was used but in the presence of 3D positions, the principle is the same except the circles are spheres.

This scheme is the design base of GPS and often used for TOF and RSS positioning. TDOA, uses a similar concept called hyperbolic positioning (Figure 2.1b). A hyperbolic curve is determined by a constant difference between two points (the focus points). Since the references are now analyzed in pairs, each of these pairs will define a hyperbola and their intersection will output the desired position.

#### 2.2.2.2 Triangulation

Triangulation uses geometric properties of triangles to estimate location. Given two absolute measured angles between the tag and two references and one known size (between the 2 references) a triangle can be exactly constructed and the NOI position determined using Angle of Arrival (AOA) techniques. Because the measured angles are absolute, it only needs 2 beacons to determine the localization. However, when only the relative angles between the NOI and the references are known a third reference point is required and a more general **3 Beacons Triangulation** technique is applied.

#### **Angle of Arrival**

The Angle of Arrival (AoA) estimates the angle of the transmitted wave when it reaches a receiving node provided with an aligned directional antenna array. Calculating the TDoA in each antenna of the array, the receiver can determine the signal's angle of incidence. Afterwards, with at least 2 angles from different receivers (for 3D needs at least 3) the position can be extracted using triangulation. This technique has the advantage of not requiring any synchronization between any devices since the time calculations are all done within the same node. However, its accuracy and precision are highly affected by multipath and by the distance between emitter and receiver[11]. Dealing with this requires relatively expensive hardware making AOA not a preferable solution for many robotic applications.



Figure 2.2: Angle of Arrival

#### 2.2.3 Technologies

#### 2.2.3.1 GPS

**Global Position System (GPS)** is a type of Range-Based technology based on satellite communication and the Global Navigation Satellite System (GNSS). GPS satellites broadcast a signal along with the exact time given by an atomic clock which is captured by a receiver on Earth. This receiver monitors multiple satellites and having at least 4 on sight, 3 for position estimation and 1 for clock deviation, the localization can be determined using trilateration/multilateration.

GPS is globally available for civilian use since the 1980's and consequently one of the most widely used localization systems. Although it is considered precise (within a couple of meters), it can be affected by some specific errors. Satellite clock errors, imperfect orbits, unmodeled delays in the Ionosphere and Troposphere and multipath reflections can all contribute to inaccuracies in the range measuring (Figure 2.3)

To overcome most of these issues, a group of more advanced technologies called "GPS Precision" were developed, namely **Differential Global Positioning System (DGPS)**, **Real Time Kinematic (RTK)**, **Satellite Based Augmentation System (SBAS)** and **Precision Point Positioning (PPP)**. Their basic concept relies on having a known fixed terrestrial station that can correct the final calculated position by the mobile receiver. This can improve the system accuracy to centimeter level by calibrating out the errors correlated to the user position (most of the previously mentioned except the multipath one). The specified technologies can differ in the system architecture, price, final accuracy, working range among others. For example, with DGPS and RTK, users have their own base station so a previous setup is often required. PPP and SBAS use a worldwide ground network reference which permits an "infinite" working range. On the other hand, their price is higher and the system operation can be a bit more complex. [12].



Figure 2.3: Multipath and Ionosphere Errors in GPS measurements

Both GPS and Precise GPS are used for many robotic localization systems as in [13], [14], [15] and [16]. However, in the presence of more complex environments, such as urban areas or indoors, it may be affected by GNSS signal blockage, attenuation or multipath interference. Furthermore, it has higher energy consumption and may need expensive hardware to achieve required accuracies.

Several different alternatives come then into the figure, that, in spite of not providing an "absolute position", can cope with some of the disadvantages of GPS.

#### 2.2.3.2 Laser Range Finders

**Laser range finders** are devices that measure distances to objects using laser rays. They are widely used in robotic applications for localization given its high speed, accuracy and low complexity [17].

Even though for many robotic applications they are not the main source for localization they are almost always part of a robot structure because of its importance in mapping procedures. Contrary to other technologies later described in this section, laser range finders do not need the presence of extra hardware. They simply work by scanning the environment and matching different measurements to give a relative displacement and orientation.

Although this can be an advantage in terms of complexity and hardware costs it does require to have an accurate mapping procedure (usually in the form of 2D grid maps), either done a priori (of-fline) or simultaneously with the localization (online, generalizing to Simultaneous Localization and Mapping (SLAM)). Moreover, data association becomes also a concern since the measurements are not uniquely identified. To this extent, several works have been proposed in the cope of laser ranger finders which also cover the research on SLAM (see 2.3.3 for more details).

Self-localization along with detection and tracking of non-stationary objects has been implemented for both indoors [18],[19],[20],[21] and outdoors [22]. The accuracy of the pose estimation is shown to reach the cm level. Additionally, Laser range finders are often fused with other types of sensors to achieve an accurate localization [23], [24], [25].

#### 2.2.3.3 Wireless Radio Sensors

**WiFi**, **Bluetooh** and **Radio Frequency Identification** (**RFID**) are some of the most used applications when working in a Wireless Local Area Network (WLAN), commonly an indoor environment [11]. For most of the cases, the first two work by inferring the user position based on the RSS, although other techniques may also be applied. There is no requirement for time synchronization between nodes in the network and the use of already existing infrastructures publicly available makes them a cheap and simple solution. On the other hand, as briefly stated in 2.2.1.1, RSS cannot be considered as highly reliable. Some studies propose spatial-temporal fingerprinting [26] or Gaussian Processes Classification [27] to cope with RSS inaccuracies but this is still an ongoing research topic.

Different implementations have shown an accuracy ranging from some decimeters until 3/5 meters [11]. With similar accuracies, WiFi distinguish itself for having higher data rate while Bluetooth has much lower power consumption. They have been successfully applied to robotic applications [28], [29]. Their Fusion was also studied reducing error metrics up to 30% [30].

As far as the RFID is concern, its system is composed by a reader which uses electromagnetic fields to identify one or more tags. It has the advantage of being more accurate (cm level) and

having a greater working range (up to 100 m for active tags) although the price of a RFID reader can be much significant than a single Bluetooth or WIFI transmitter (a single reader may cost up to \$1500 [31]).

The information provided by RFID tags has lately been having a growing interest in robotic applications. Navigation, localization, mapping or object tracking are some of the tasks which it can help to solve. In [32], RFIDs tags on objects are tracked by a robot. Implementing a novel space partitioning optimization algorithm, RF-Compass, the system achieves a localization accuracy of 2.76cm. Mobile robot localization has also been solved by fusing RFID measurements with other sensors like sonars [33], laser range finders [34], [35] or stereo cameras [36].

#### 2.2.3.4 Ultra-Wideband (UWB)

The **Ultra-Wideband** is also a wireless radio technology mostly used in communications which has been lately receiving more attention in positioning systems [37], [38]. Its first radar application dates back the 1960's but due to political and technological restrictions, for most of the 20th century was only used for military purposes. More recently, in 2002, the United States Federal Communications Commission (FCC) released 7.5GHz of unlicensed spectrum resulting in a deeper interest and usage flexibility by the general public.

#### **Operational principle**

UWB ranging works by sending an omnidirectional radio wave from one module to another and measure the time difference between its emission and reception (using one of the time-ranging methods). Since radio waves travel at approximately the speed of light <sup>1</sup> one can easily deduce the distance traveled. The times involved in UWB are particularly small, in the order of nanoseconds, so there is the need for a high timing accuracy which can only be achieved in the presence of a very narrow pulse. The Heisenberg's principle (2.1) deduces the bandwidth ( $\Delta f$ ) need for a given signal pulse width ( $\Delta t$ ). By using a large range of frequencies and consequently a very narrow pulse, the signal's peak can be accurately measured and reflections can be avoided.

$$\Delta t \Delta f \ge \frac{1}{4\pi} \tag{2.1}$$

Exemplifying, with a  $\Delta f = 20$ Mhz the resulting pulse-width will be no smaller than 4 ns and consequently around 1.2 m long. This means that any reflected signal from an obstruction until 1.2 m will overlap the Line-of-sight (LOS) direct pulse and decrease system accuracy. On the contrary, increasing  $\Delta f$  to 500MHz results in pulses of 0.16 ns wide and therefore different reflections at more than 5 cm can be easily resolved. For better illustration, the effects of narrow and wide bandwidth on pulse reflections are shown in Figure 2.4.

Moreover, even without multi-path issues, measuring the peak of wide pulses is not always an easy task and the noise filtering can be more difficult.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>slightly smaller than the actual speed of light in vacuum because of air temperature, and pressure

The higher bandwidth comes at the cost of strict low power regulations for UWB systems (Figure 2.5). Because of this, a single pulse isn't distinguishable from noise when it reaches the receiver. The solution comes by sending a train of pulses instead of just one, which will accumulate power and make the detection possible.



Figure 2.4: Comparisson of Multipath in Narrow Bandwidth signals and in Ultra-Wideband signals

#### **Localization Methods**

In terms of localization methods, time-based schemes as TDOA and TOF are preferable for UWB since they explore the high time resolution given by large bandwidths. The use of AOA can be challenging due to a lot of different identified paths. Furthermore, the required antenna rays are expensive annulling the advantage of UWB low-cost transceivers. As for the RSS methods, although the very large bandwidths can present several improvements to their performance, they still come up short when compared to time-ranging methods [38].

#### Main advantages

This technology can be very useful to robot localization given its low cost and excellent time domain. Because of the increased radio spectrum bandwidth (>=500MHz) and sub-nanosecond duration pulses, it is not only robust to the interference of other types of Radio Frequency (RF) signals but can also discriminate the different multipath components of the received signal, solving the issues observed in the previously mentioned technologies. Moreover, the lower frequencies of the UWB spectrum can penetrate some variety of materials (like walls), making it particularly attractive for indoor applications. Generally, it can deliver for most applications a centimeter level accuracy (around 10 cm [39]) as opposed to more traditional narrow banded technologies, as WiFi and Bluetooth, which only have a meter level of accuracy.

#### Limitations and challenges

One of the drawbacks of UWB are the restrictions imposed by governmental regulations on the use of the power spectrum. These regulations may vary depending on country, therefore, the network parameters cannot be set homogeneously even for the same application. Apart from that, modeling a UWB channel can be challenging. Different frequency components usually present different interactions with the surrounding environment and antennas response is more variable, especially in terms of angular dependency [40].

Finally, as observed in different studies [40], [41],[42], time measurements variance in a Non-Line-of-Sight (NLOS) environment is usually much larger than in a Line-of-Sight one. In fact, TOF range based error can be modeled as a gaussian distribution in LOS but for the NLOS case, it also adds an exponentially distributed random variable [40]. This difference in system performances makes it harder to have a precise error characterization which can be essential for processing and filter the data in the best way possible for navigation systems. Although not always possible, statistically modeling the environment using a priori information can be employed as a solution. Practical tests proved that by identifying NLOS and LOS situations, the accuracy increased to at least a factor of 2.5 [40].



Figure 2.5: Emitting power regulations for unlicensed spectrum (FCC)

#### **Applications and Previous Work**

UWB systems have been an intensive research topic for the past decades. DecaWave using TOF [43], Ubisense which fuses AOA and TDOA [44], Sequitir with TDOA [45] and Time Domain [46] are the most known commercial implementation of the technology giving accuracies ranging from 10 to 15 cm. Some examples of these applications are ground penetrating radar [47], medical imaging [48], vehicular radar and military communications.

More recently, UWB found applications in robot localization. Most of the works explore the technology for indoor applications: [49] proposed a UWB-Infrared localization system along with

TDoA. [50] combines UWB range measurements with the vehicle odometry using a Particle Filter approach, analyzing UWB range errors for NLOS and LOS scenarios. Further characterization for a hybrid approach of indoors and outdoors is done in [51] where data from UWB and GPS are explored and fused by a Particle Filter. The same principal is applied by [52] for a quadcopter localization but using an EKF filter instead.

### 2.3 Fusion and Estimation Algorithms

In an ideal world all the above technologies can directly or indirectly infer the exact robot's position. However, in practice, there is uncertainty associated with such a task which can arise from different factors like the dynamism of the environment or sensor limitations such as resolution and noise. Consequently, the ability to cope with that is an important system requirement. Probabilistic algorithms are usually employed to help increasing the robustness and accuracy of the system with two main objectives:

- 1. Deal with sensors noise and ambiguous measurements, detecting unexpected interferences from the environment;
- 2. Fusion of different technologies. Although most of them can be used independently, proper fusion in a multi-sensor environment can increase the redundancy in the state estimation.

Despite the existence of other types of estimators (like batch estimators) the focus of this section will be on the **Recursive State Estimators (RSE)**, the most used in robotics. Those share a common representation of the system state x based on the Bayes Theorem (2.2) reason for which they are also called **Recursive Bayesian Estimators (RBE)**. p(x|y), also known as posterior probability, represents the belief of the system being in the state x given the measured data y. In the case of localization, the state is the robot's pose but it can be set as a mixture of any other unknown variables to be predicted. Another side note is the reliance of the RSE on the Markov assumption. The premise states that past and future data are not dependent if the current state is known. As an implication, the knowledge of the immediately previous state and the current measurements is enough to predict the current state. Opposing to this sequential approach, batch techniques need to keep track of a history of observations [1].

$$p(x|y) = \frac{p(y|x)p(x)}{p(y)}$$
 (2.2)

#### 2.3.1 Gaussian Filters

Gaussian filters are by far the most popular filter techniques in the state-of-art localization algorithms. The beliefs assume a well-known unimodal distribution - multivariate gaussian distribution – which can be simply characterized by a mean and a covariance. Despite some shortcomings, in many practical problems, gaussians are considered robust estimators. In this category, the highlights are the Kalman Filter and its extended versions.

#### 2.3.1.1 Kalman Filter

The Kalman Filter [53] is one of the oldest and best studied techniques for implementing Bayesian inference in state filtering and prediction. Its particularity lies on the linearity of the state and measurement probabilities representation. Generally, the algorithm keeps track of the state's estimation and the uncertainty of this estimation in two different phases: **Prediction** and **Correction**. The first one predicts the new state by inputting the previous estimation and its uncertainty as well as the motion data into a state transition model. The latter integrates all the sensors data into the calculated state in the previous step and outputs a final estimation. The correction phase is, therefore, the step where all other sensors and technologies can also be fused. Apart from some fusion implementations [54], most real-world localization systems rarely fulfill the linearity constraint of the basic Kalman Filter so their application is reduced to the most trivial robotic problems. To overcome the linearity assumption an extension of the Kalman Filter, the Extended Kalman Filter (EKF) was created.

#### 2.3.1.2 Extended Kalman Filter

The **Extended Kalman Filter** in its sense is the extension of the state transition and measurement models to non-linear functions. The state is still represented as a joint probability gaussian distribution over the variables, however, this probability is now only an approximation to the true belief and not the exact one. The key idea is to linearize the state around the current estimation by the first order Taylor Expansion (2.3) which is the source of the non-exact representation of the belief.

$$f(x) = f(a) + f'(a)(x - a)$$
(2.3)

EKF is without doubt the most popular tool for state estimation in robotics ([55], [56], [57], [58], [59]).

Its main advantages lie in its simplicity and computational efficiency due to the unimodal gaussian representations. The computational complexity is only dependent on the dimension of the measurement and state vectors and therefore is much more efficient than Non Parametric filters whose algorithms use larger and more complex representations of the world.

It is, however, based on two major assumptions. The first postulates that the state estimation is close enough to the real value since the system is linearized around the current prediction. The second one assumes that the non-linear functions can be accurately approximated. If the degree of nonlinearity is indeed not too high, EKF approximations are generally good and accurate. It is, in practice, extremely important to keep the uncertainty small, since by propagating the gaussian distribution through the linearized model, larger errors can be induced if the gaussian becomes too wide. Nevertheless, sometimes these functions are highly non-linear or even multi-modal (which cannot be represented by a gaussian distribution). In these cases, the EKF may perform poorly or not converge at all.

#### 2.3.1.3 Unscented Kalman Filter

A more recent technique, the Unscented Kalman Filter (UKF), was proposed by Julier and Uhlman [60] to address the error caused by the linearization of the EKF. The state is still approximated as a gaussian random variable but is now only linearized in a minimal set of sampled points. The computational complexity is in the same order of magnitude as the EKF, although the process of selecting the sigma points entails slightly more effort. Furthermore, this process must be done carefully and cannot be generalized for every case.

Comparisons between EKF and UKF implementations were presented in [61], [62] and [63]. For strong nonlinearities in measurement models, UKF yield in general better performance but for the opposite case, they achieved similar results. A slightly different performance was exposed in [52], regarding an outdoor scenario for a quadcopter UWB localization system. EKF revealed more consistent results against UKF who showed some sensitivity to the weights of the sampled points in different anchor configurations. This proves that generally, if the models considered are reasonably stable EKF is simpler and reaches good levels of accuracy. On the contrary, if the models are highly non-linear, UKF is preferable.

#### 2.3.2 Nonparametric Filters

Gaussian techniques tend to work well only if the position uncertainty is small. Even solving the approximation issues of the EKF, UKF doesn't attend for the case where the system dynamics cannot be approximated by a unimodal gaussian distribution neither can it process "negative information". The absence of a measurement can give relevant clues to the estimator but this negative information cannot be represented by gaussian beliefs. For this reason, Kalman Filter implementations simply ignore this fact.

A popular alternative is to remove the fixed distribution form of the beliefs representation, which is the key concept of nonparametric filters. Particularly, posteriors approximation is done by a finite number of values that will correspond to a specific region in the state space.

Compared to the gaussian filters, they are well-suited to deal with global uncertainty, data association problems and complex multimodal probability distributions. To a certain extent, they also don't make specific assumptions relatively to the initial state of the system and therefore can solve quite well the problem of global localization. These come with the expense of an increased computational cost which will depend on the number of parameters used for the beliefs approximation. Changing them will affect the quality of the technique (the more the merrier) so a trade-off analysis should be done taking into consideration the complexity of the posteriors.

#### 2.3.2.1 Histogram Filters

Histogram filters are a class of nonparametric techniques that decomposes the state space into regions, assigning for each one a certain cumulative probability (histogram representation). The state belief is now represented by a probability density function and by choosing the "most likely sampled region" the estimation can be completed.

A common implementation of this filter is called **Grid Localization** or grid-based Markov localization [1]. The robot surroundings are discretized into a grid map with each cell representing the probability of the robot's location being there. With the right grid resolution, this technique can be a very good approach to the localization problem. This choice must be done carefully though: fine high-resolution grids can result in implausible slow algorithms and huge memory consumption whereas the discretization of the space into coarse grids may have negative performance outcomes.

Grid Localization has its main advantage on the robustness and ability to converge even in dense or unstructured environments. On the downside, its computational overhead can be prohibitive. One of the most promising solutions presented to overcome this, uses the oct-trees concept by dynamically redefining the grid size according to the robot's uncertainty [64].



Figure 2.6: Different state representation in probabilistic localization algorithms

#### 2.3.2.2 Particle Filter

Another common approach with a lot of popularity in robotics is the **Particle Filter** (**PF**) [65], [66], [67], [68].

The concept is similar to histogram filters also having an approximation of the state space by a number of parameters. However, the process itself and the distribution of the samples (called particles) is done differently.

In the mobile robot localization context, **Monte Carlo Localization** (**MCL**) [69] is the Particle Filter algorithm receiving more attention In MCL, each particle represents a possibility of the robot being at a determinate pose. The denser a region is, the more likely is it that the state falls into that region. The algorithm is vaguely divided into the following steps:

- 1. Initialization, in which a set of particles is randomly and uniformly distributed over the space.
- 2. Propagation of the particles, modeled in general by the robot's motion. New measurements assign non-uniform weights to the particle set.
- 3. Resampling process. As a result, the region around the truth robot's pose will, if everything goes well, be denser now and some of the particles with smaller weights will be removed. The new state is extracted by a weighted sum of some of the particles, usually only the ones in the densest region.
Compared to the basic grid-Markov localization it can reduce the memory requirements and the process requirements. It is also considered more accurate than the grid algorithm with a fixed cell size [69].

Drawbacks of the naive implementation of Monte Carlo localization occur mostly due to the resampling phase. An unlucky sequence of events can wipe out all particles near the true state. This issue is also known as particle deprivation and can induce the system in a state of "no possible recovery". One way of trying to mitigate the problem is by introducing random particles (noise) each step. Although it can add some extra final error, the algorithm is now more robust and more certainly to converge.

Practically, the accuracy of the filter is, like in the histogram filter, determined by the size of the particle set. Thus, the stated problems only tend to arise in high-dimensional spaces and when the number of particles is too small relative to all the regions with high likelihood.

### 2.3.3 Simultaneous Localization and Mapping

The localization stage of mobile robots is highly related to the mapping procedure. The previous algorithms work well for two localization scenarios:

- 1. The environment is previously mapped and the robot's pose is the variable to be determined
- 2. The robot's pose is known and the map needs to be constructed.

A third case, when the robot doesn't have access to neither the map nor its own position comes into the scope of a problem commonly referred as the Simultaneous Localization and Mapping. It is by far one the most researched problems in robotics [70], [71].

The earliest and most popular SLAM algorithm to be proposed is based on the EKF [72], [73] and has been successfully applied to a diverse number of robotic navigation applications [74], [75], [76], [77]. The main disadvantages of EKF SLAM are the complexity of the updating step and the limitation to relatively sparse maps with non-ambiguous landmarks. Other tools with different advantages and disadvantages have also been proposed and implemented. RGBD SLAM [78], FastSlam [79], Unscented FastSlam (UFastSlam) [80], Rao-Blackwellized Particle Filer RBPF-SLAM [81] [82] or the Sum of Gaussian (SOG) method [83] are among them. Given that SLAM is a far more complex problem than the single localization and falls away from the main implementation of the thesis it won't be further characterized.

## 2.4 Agricultural Robots

Autonomous robots have been a large engineer field for many areas. As their technology becomes more and more developed, specific applications like precise agriculture emerge [84], [85]. Robots are now revolutionizing a variety of different tasks in agricultural environments releasing farm workers from hard manual labor and addressing numerous challenges.

For example, due to vast fields, crops imply extensive monitoring which is usually a very low-efficiency task if done by humans. Introducing autonomous robots can not only help in seed planting and selective harvesting but also improve the analysis and control of the soil and products quality. Pruning [86], weeding [87] and spraying [88] are also other applications that can benefit from robotics.

Nevertheless, the situation is not entirely rosy. In most of the cases, these tasks require a great level of robustness in all their navigation, visual perception and manipulation tools. In the specific case of localization, dense vegetation can cause signal blockage and multipath interference of some of the previously mentioned technologies. Uneven and harsh terrains will also lead to enormous errors on the widely accepted dead reckoning systems. For this reason, this is a relevant and growing research interest by the robotics community.



Figure 2.7: Harvesting Robot



Figure 2.8: Wall-Ye [86] in a pruning task

#### 2.4.1 Localization

One of the boosters of the commercialized agricultural robot was *BoniRob* developed by Bosch's Deepfield Labs [89]. Its main "online" source of localization is the IMU and wheel odometry. However, it navigates through a map done a priori through high precision GPS. While using RTK-GPS it achieves accuracies around 2 cm. Other than that the accuracies are in the sub-decimeter level [90].

More specific to the state of art in vineyard environments (like the one AgRob V16 will face) one can enhance *VineRobot* [91] and *VinBot* [92]. They are all-terrain autonomous robots able to monitor the grapes state by the means of several non-invasive technologies. Similar to *BoniRob*, *VinBot's* localization system involves a precision RTK-DGPS fused with IMU and wheel Odometry data.

The idea of using GPS for agricultural robots is not new. As a matter of fact, most of the literature proposes a fusion of high precision GPS, inertial measurements and wheel odometry. After that, using machine vision (stereo cameras or RGB-D cameras) and laser scanners they identify crop rows, trees and other obstacles to perform reliable navigation. Some examples of this are the *The Demeter System for Automated Harvesting* [93], created to plan and execute harvesting operation and Massey University's autonomous Kiwi-Fruit picking robot [94].

Also GPS-based is the general localization of *Bin-Dog* [95], a fruit bin carrier, and of *U-Go Robot* [96], a rough terrain outdoor vehicle, with the difference that they also address the case inside orchard's rows with dense vegetation (where GPS is not so reliable). For this case, relative measurements with laser and ultrasonic sensors are used.

The *Grape Project* [97] optimizes the fusion of the IMU,GPS and Odometry by a factor graph based filter. In addition, the system exploits a Light Detection And Ranging (LIDAR) sensor combined with a Monte Carlo Localization algorithm to localize the robot and to map the vineyard through SLAM.

Noguchi [15] presented an on-field navigation system with a vision sensor, a fiber optical gyroscope (FOG) and RTK-GPS, comparing the navigation with GPS-FOG only, Vision only and fusion of all. The results were satisfactory for the three cases (accuracy < 20 cm) with better performance for the fused system.

Most of these robots have shown to self-localize and navigate accurately. However, almost all of them rely on high precision GPS to do so. Some of the mentioned signal issues or simply their non-affordable price make GPS-free localization approaches an interesting research topic which has only been extensively explored in indoor environments.

Machine Vision, often used for perception and navigation among agricultural robots, places itself as one of the most popular alternatives. Sharifi explores in [98] the fusion of stereo visual odometry (SVO) with wheel odometry and IMU measurements for harsh agricultural scenarios. A neural-fuzzy machine learning algorithm is also proposed to deal with some accumulative drift of the SVO for large ranges. Other interesting solutions fuse vision with natural [99] or artificial landmarks [100] as an input to a SLAM framework. The landmarks approach is also considered together with 2D Range Lasers. From the range measurements of trees in a vineyard row, lines are extracted and provided as features to SLAM [101] or fused with artificial landmarks with an EKF filter [102]. As noted by the authors the 2D filter works well even for hilly terrains as long as the slope is not excessive. However they also note that it can be sensitive to the dead-reckoning errors so noise and errors should be modeled carefully.

The majority of works stated, address uneven but approximately flat terrains (in terms of altitude). Other kinds of vineyards, built on steep slope hills, are not so intensively mentioned in the literature. In a preceding work, INESC TEC researchers working with AgRob, implemented a similar approach to Marden [101] and Libby [102] but with a target environment of steep slope vineyards. A redundant localization solution based on the identification of natural features by Laser Range Finder (LRF) is tested in a simulated environment in [2]. Despite being a slight improvement, natural feature detection is still highly dependent on environmental conditions and was also proved to be less reliable on the row transitions of the vineyards since it has no vine masts or trunks on sight (the identified natural landmarks). Additionally, they extend their work in [4], with an artificial landmarking mapping procedure called Beacons Mapping Procedure. BMP can map automatically RFID tags that can be placed in the beginning/end of each vineyard row. These artificial beacons are an input to the EKF SLAM approach (VineSLAM) presented in the previous paper and stated as a redundant localization information for agricultural robots. In sum, hard environments like steep slopes require a redundant localization system using several sources of information. This helps to overcome GPS/GNSS failures, high levels of odometry noise due to rocks and visual perception system failures due to weather conditions. In this thesis, we have chosen systems that can give distance measurements to beacons with the Time-of-Flight technology.

# **Chapter 3**

# **Approach and Algorithms Developed**

In this chapter, the implemented approaches will be exposed and their theoretical foundations explained. The formulation of the Beacon-Range Localization and its assumptions are described followed by a meticulous analysis of the EKF Localization algorithm implemented. Finally, in the last section, several considerations regarding the practical implementation of the algorithm are exposed.

## 3.1 Localization Methods and Technologies

Given the specifications of the problem previously depicted and after analyzing the different methods and solutions described in the literature review, a localization based on Ultra-Wideband beacons was chosen as the main approach. It is not only a reliable and robust solution for absolute positioning but is also able to cope with real-time measurements and usually not too expensive. Active beacons were preferred over natural or passive artificial landmarks because of their a higher working range and flexibility. This is particularly important in an outdoor environment removing the need of following specific paths to recognize landmarks and eliminating computational efforts of object recognition and data association.

Lastly, regarding the ranging technology, ultra-wideband appeared as an appealing solution to deal with the issues inherent to an environment like a mountain vineyard. Although it is still an on going research topic, its characteristics can help to overcome dead reckoning errors due to the harsh terrain, multipath effects of other radio technologies or GPS signal blockage. UWB communication is implemented in our system through Pozyx, a relatively low-cost commercial solution for accurate ranging and positioning, composed of one main sensor tag and 4 other sensors used as beacons (see chapter 4 for more details).

# 3.2 2D Beacon-Based Localization

Generally the problem of Robot Beacon-Based Localization can be defined as estimating the robot's pose  $X = \begin{bmatrix} x & y & \theta \end{bmatrix}^T$  by measuring the distances and/or angles to a given number of

beacons mapped in  $M_B = [x_{Bi}y_{Bi}], i \in \{1...N_B\}$  both X and  $M_B$  defined in a global reference frame *GxGy*.

For this specific case, distance measurement, the following assumptions can be made:

- Although the absolute position relative to the Earth is tridimensional, the localization can be solved for the 2D case. It is assumed that the robot is navigating in a two dimensional plane, even in the presence of severe inclination.
- The beacons position is static and known a priori so  $M_B$  is clearly defined at all moments;
- At time step *k* the odometry values are available for  $k \in \{0...k\}$ . This will be used to provide the input  $u(k) = \begin{bmatrix} \Delta x_{odom} & \Delta y_{odom} \end{bmatrix}^T$  to the system in which each u(k) refers to the variation of the odometry between times *k* and k 1.
- $Z_B(k) = \lfloor r_{Bi} \rfloor$  specifies the measurement of the range sensor embedded in the robot to each beacon *i* at the instant *k*.

Our overall model of 2D localization given distances to beacons is illustrated in Figure 3.1.



Figure 3.1: 2D Localization given measurements to beacons with known position

To solve the problem of 2D Beacon-Based Localization two approaches were compared:

- 1. Implementation of an Extended Kalman Filter localization algorithm for fusion of odometry values and raw range measurements from Pozyx;
- 2. Pozyx internal UWB-only positioning algorithm.

# **3.3 Implemented Algorithms**

Raw range measurements of the beacons alone can't return any robot location, hence a localization algorithm has to be chosen. The well known EKF Localization was considered a good solution given the problem conditions.

It is of relatively simple implementation and low computational costs allowing a real-time localization output that can be important to, for example, path planning. Moreover, EKF is also a flexible and scalable fusion algorithm, therefore further data from other sensors, technologies or implementations can be added easily.

In this case, odometry data was fused with sensor range measurements. It is a particularly good combination because odometry provides accessible high-frequency information about the relative motion of the robot. On the other hand, sensor ranges can yield absolute information, independent from the past and its errors are not cumulative over time (as opposed to odometry). Since both sources are not correlated, they can balance each other pretty well.

### 3.3.1 Extended Kalman Filter

As previously mentioned, EKF is a filter algorithm often used for robot localization and sensor data fusion. As for all Kalman Filters, it models the robot's state as a gaussian distribution  $X_k \sim N(\mu_{Xk}, \Sigma_{Xk})$ , where  $\mu_{Xk}$  is the robot's pose mean value and  $\Sigma_{Xk}$  the correspondent covariance matrix.

Before further implementations, it is important to define and understand the way the robot's state and the sensor observations evolve in time. The State Transition Model and the Observation Model will tell EKF's Prediction and Correction phases respectively how should they interpret the inputted data.

#### 3.3.1.1 State Transition Model

The state transition model (3.1) is a probabilistic model that characterizes the state distribution over the inputs. In a robot localization problem, this model is also referred as a kinematic model since it defines the probability of the state given the robot's relative motion.

There are two main types of motion models that can define f: Velocity Models or Odometry Models. The first defines the next state as a function of rotational and translational velocity whereas the latter use odometry measurements instead. Odometry models are said to be more accurate than velocity ones but have the drawback of just being available after the actual robot motion. Although this is not a concern for filter algorithms, it may be a limitation for control-ling purposes [1]. For now, the main concern is estimating the pose, so an Odometry Model was adopted (3.2), where the previous state  $X_k$  and the variation of odometry values  $u_{k+1}$  are given as inputs.

$$X_{k+1} = f(X_k, u_{k+1}) + N(0, Q)$$
(3.1)

$$f(X_k, u_{k+1}) = X_k + \begin{bmatrix} \Delta x_{Odom} cos(\theta_k + \frac{\Delta \theta_{odom}}{2}) - \Delta y_{Odom} sin(\theta_k + \frac{\Delta \theta_{odom}}{2}) \\ \Delta x_{Odom} sin(\theta_k + \frac{\Delta \theta_{odom}}{2}) + \Delta y_{Odom} cos(\theta_k + \frac{\Delta \theta_{odom}}{2}) \\ \Delta \theta_{odom} \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.2)

The chosen model was introduced by Eliazar [103] and has the advantages of accounting for the dependency of the drive and turn movements. Simpler models assume constant turning velocities and approximate robot movements to straight lines.

After defined, EKF requires the linearization of the model through the Taylor expansion. This includes computing the Jacobian of f with respect to  $X_k$  ( $Gx_k$  3.3) and to  $u_{k+1}$  ( $Gu_{k+1}$  3.4).

$$Gx_{k} = \frac{\partial f}{\partial X_{k}} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & -\Delta x_{Odom} sin(\theta_{k} + \frac{\Delta \theta_{Odom}}{2}) - \Delta y_{Odom} cos(\theta_{k} + \frac{\Delta \theta_{Odom}}{2}) \\ 0 & 1 & \Delta x_{Odom} cos(\theta_{k} + \frac{\Delta \theta_{Odom}}{2}) - \Delta y_{Odom} sin(\theta_{k} + \frac{\Delta \theta_{Odom}}{2}) \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.3)

$$Gu_{k+1} = \frac{\partial f}{\partial u_k} = \begin{bmatrix} \cos(\theta_k + \frac{\Delta\theta_{Odom}}{2}) & -\sin(\theta_k + \frac{\Delta\theta_{Odom}}{2}) & -\frac{1}{2}\Delta x_{Odom}\sin(\theta_k + \frac{\Delta\theta_{Odom}}{2}) - \frac{1}{2}\Delta y_{Odom}\cos(\theta_k + \frac{\Delta\theta_{Odom}}{2}) \\ \sin(\theta_k + \frac{\Delta\theta_{Odom}}{2}) & \cos(\theta_k + \frac{\Delta\theta_{Odom}}{2}) & \frac{1}{2}\Delta x_{Odom}\cos(\theta_k + \frac{\Delta\theta_{Odom}}{2}) - \frac{1}{2}\Delta y_{Odom}\sin(\theta_k + \frac{\Delta\theta_{Odom}}{2}) \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.4)

Finally, to represent the uncertainty associated with the odometry readings, the state model also adds a random normal distributed variable N(0,Q). Each direction of movement is assumed independent.

$$Q = \begin{bmatrix} \sigma_{\Delta x_{Odom}}^2 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \sigma_{\Delta y_{Odom}}^2 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \sigma_{\Delta \theta_{Odom}}^2 \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.5)

Concluding, the chosen state transition model intrinsically states that the variation of the odometry readings is a good approximation of the variation of the true pose and that this approximation is modeled by a gaussian distribution.

#### 3.3.1.2 Observation Model

Similarly, EKF's correction phase will also require a model to deal with the inputted measurements, also referred as Observation Model (3.6). It defines the range to beacon *i* as the actual Euclidean distance *h* between the position and the known beacon localization. The expected value of the measurement given the pose estimate is given by  $h(\hat{X}_k, M_{Bi})$ . The range bearings were not given directly and thus not taken into account in the model, although they could theoretically be calculated by the combination of measurements from more than one beacon. Once again the process is affected by an additive Gaussian noise with zero mean and covariance *R*, a parameter to be tunned accordingly to the sensor error characteristics.

$$Z_{Bi} = r_{Bi} = hX_k, M_{Bi} + N(0, R) \qquad \qquad R = \left|\sigma_r^2\right| \tag{3.6}$$

#### 3.3 Implemented Algorithms

$$h(\widehat{X}_{k}, M_{Bi}) = \sqrt{(x_{Bi} - \widehat{x}_{k})^{2} + (y_{Bi} - \widehat{y}_{k})^{2}}$$
(3.7)

As well as for the state transition model, the Jacobian of *h* related to  $X_k$  ( $Hz_{ki}$  3.8) will be computed for the purposes of the system linearization. Não coloques "chapeu" em Z pois é uma medida.

$$Hz_{ki} = \begin{bmatrix} -\frac{x_{Bi} - \hat{x}_k}{\sqrt{(x_{Bi} - \hat{x}_k)^2 + (y_{Bi} - \hat{y}_k)^2)}} & -\frac{y_{Bi} - \hat{y}_k}{\sqrt{(x_{Bi} - \hat{x}_k)^2 + (y_{Bi} - \hat{y}_k)^2)}} & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.8)



Figure 3.2: Odometry State Transition Model



Figure 3.3: Range Observation Model

#### 3.3.1.3 Implementation

After preliminary considerations, the algorithm can now be described. Our implementation (Algorithm 1) was based on the EKF Localization with known correspondences proposed by Thrun in [1].

The algorithm starts with the prediction step, where the state transition model is applied and linearized (lines 1:3). The prediction of the new state covariance  $P_k$  is also computed given the previous state uncertainty  $P_{k-1}$  and the propagation of the state and motion data around the current state (line 4). In fact, this simply means that the certainty of the new state is based on propagations of the previous state and the odometry values weighted by their own certainties.

Without any state correction from the sensor, the filter will accumulate noise and  $P_k$  will gradually increase. However, in the presence of new observations, the uncertainty is reduced deflating  $P_k$ . When new beacon data arrives, the algorithm cycles through each detected measurement and computes the expected observations at line 6.

If an outlier is not detected then the state is updated relatively to the Kalman Gain  $K_i$  (line 10:12).  $K_i$  measures the uncertainty of the sensor measurements relatively to the predicted state.

Finally, after updating the state and respective covariance for each beacon range, the algorithm terminates.

Algorithm 1 EKF Localization Algorithm with Known Measurement correspondences

**Input:**  $X_{k-1}, u_k, P_{k-1}, R, Q, ZB_k$ **Output:**  $X_k, P_k$ 

## PREDICTION

1:  $\widehat{X}_{k} = f(X_{k-1}, u_{k})$ 2:  $Gx_{k} = \frac{\partial f}{\partial X}$ 3:  $Gu_{k} = \frac{\partial f}{\partial u}$ 4:  $P_{k} = Gx_{k}P_{k-1}Gx_{k}^{T} + Gu_{k}QGu_{k}^{T}$ 

### CORRECTION

5: for  $i \leftarrow 1$  to  $N_B$  do  $\widehat{Z_{ki}} = h(\widehat{X_k}, M_{Bi})$ 6:  $Hz_{ki} = \frac{\partial h}{\partial X}$ 7:  $S_{ki} = [Hz_{ki}\widehat{P}_kHz_{ki}^T + R]$ 8: if ! Outlier\_Detected then 9:  $K_i = \widehat{P}_k H z_{ki}^T S_{ki}^{-1}$ 10:  $\widehat{X_k} = \widehat{X_k} + \widetilde{K_i}[Z_{ki} - \widehat{Z_{ki}}]$  $\widehat{P_k} = [I - K_i H z_{ki}]\widehat{P_k}$ 11: 12: 13: end if 14: end for

15:  $X_k = \widehat{X}_k$ 16:  $P_k = \widehat{P}_k$ 

### 3.3.1.4 Outliers Detection

Generally, the measurements in a robotic system like this are prone to unmodeled errors due to hardware faults, unexpected changes in the environment or even faulty beacon detections. For a proper use of the observations, the process needs to be able to detect and cope with these unreliable data whose characteristics deviate from the normal pattern. This phase is called Outlier Detection. There are several ways to approach the problem. In presence of a multivariate data, one of the common methods is using the Mahalanobis' distance (MD) (3.9) as a statistical measure of the probability of some observation belonging to a certain dataset. This method has been used successfully in different applications in [104] [105] and consists of computing the normalized distance between one point and all the population. The Euclidean Distance could be used but MD takes into account not only the distance to the mean but also the direction (i.e covariance). As a matter of fact, MD is equal to the Euclidean distance only when the covariance matrix is the identity (all the variables are independent and with the same variance). This statistical approach for outlier rejections is illustrated in Figure 3.4.

$$Md(v) = \sqrt{(v - \mu)^T S^{-1}(v - \mu)}$$
(3.9)

Algorithm 2 applies the concept to the EKF localization. Since only one sensor measurement

#### Mahalanobis distance



Figure 3.4: Mahalanobis' distance with different thresholds applied to a multivariate distribution. Outliers are removed if they are outside of a specific ellipse that represents a certain probability in the distribution. The different ellipses represent different MD's and hence different probability thresholds.

is analyzed at a time, we assume that the current estimated range  $\hat{Z}_k$  is the mean and *S* represents a combination of the uncertainty of the state and the actual sensor measurement (line 8 in algorithm 1).

Algorithm 2 Outlier Detection for EKF
Input: $S_{ki}, \widehat{Z_{ki}}, Z_{ki}$
Output: isOutlier
1: $Md(Z_{ki}) = \sqrt{(Z_{ki} - \widehat{Z_{ki}})^T S_{ki}^{-1}(Z_{ki} - \widehat{Z_{ki}})}$
2: if $Md(Z_{ki}) > threshold$ then
3: <b>return</b> true
4: else
5: <b>return</b> false
6: end if

Choosing the threshold (line 2) can be done by simply analyzing the data or by determining some probabilistic statistical parameter. Here it was set accordingly to the  $\chi^2$  probability table so that the observations with less than 5% of probability were cut out.

### 3.3.1.5 Tunning and Practical Considerations

In practice, a suitable EKF requires prior tuning of some parameters: the initial state error covariance  $P_0$  and the noise covariances associated with the process Q and the measurements R. This is perhaps one of the most crucial steps of the EKF design since improper specifications can yield poor filter performance or even localization divergence.

Choosing  $P_0$  is essentially related to the confidence that the algorithm has in the provided initial state  $X_0$ , so it will only affect the filter to a certain rate. After the initialization, the matrix P

is constantly updated and unless the system suffers unexpected major perturbations, it will start to converge to a steady state.

On the other hand, Q and R have a greater impact in the filter's performance and evolution. Depending on the implementation they can be constant or time-variant. Either way, their choice is representative of how valuable are the respective processes to the estimation.

Most authors consider Q the most critical and hardest design choice since R can be determined by the sensor's data characteristics [106]. In general, a small Q provides smoother results but can lead to divergences if odometry data considerably deviates from the expected model. It also shouldn't be too large to avoid large fluctuations in the state and large final uncertainty.

Even more important than each individual choice seems to be the ratio between P and R that will set the Kalman Gain. In general, small gains ( $R \gg P$ ) lead to slow convergence and slow responses to system changes whereas larger gains may result in unstable estimation due to a bigger influence of more recent measurements [107]. Figure 3.5 captures the impact of the P/R ratio in the filter propagation error. Hence, it can be concluded that tunning an EKF is essentially finding a good trade-off between convergence rate and stability.



Figure 3.5: Effect of *P/R* ratio in a Kalman Filter propagation error. Reprinted from [107]

Several algorithms have been developed to properly tune an EKF but for the most cases a manual approach based on trial-error is simpler and enough. Given that the filter's model is only an approximation of the real one, Groves suggests, as a rule of thumb, to use parameters that can give a state uncertainty of around 2 or 3 times larger than the actual expected standard deviation in order to keep the estimation stable.

Lastly, it should also be noted that EKF performance is affected by different factors like changes of environment conditions, even for the same system and parameters. For this reason, the filter shouldn't be tuned to optimally fit a particular calibration data.

# **Chapter 4**

# **Experimental Methodology**

This chapter describes the methodology of experiments of the chosen approaches. The first chapter gives an overview of the implementation platforms, namely AgRob V16, the robot, and Pozyx, the localization beacon system. The second section outlines the tests performed and characterizes the respective environments.

# 4.1 Research Platforms Description

## 4.1.1 AgRob V16

AgRob V.16 (Figure 4.2) is a research agricultural robot developed by The Center of Industrial Robotics and Intelligent System of INESC TEC  $^1$  with the purpose of carrying out different tasks in a vineyard environment.

AgRob V.16 is a continuation of previous works on AgRob V.14 (Figure 4.1), the preceding version. Because it is bigger and heavier (50Kg against V14's 15Kg), AgRob V.16 is more robust and can now support several types of mechanical components for execution of complex agricultural tasks.



Figure 4.1: AgRob V.14



Figure 4.2: AgRob V.16

http://criis.inesctec.pt

It is built on top of a low center of gravity platform that along with its four-wheel mechanical traction allows an autonomous navigation in harsh terrains with a maximum speed of 1.0 m/s. The sensing system is composed of different hardware: RTK-GPS, LIDAR, IMU, stereo cameras and RGB-D cameras. All of these are managed and integrated by one Intel NUC i7 and two Raspberry Pi 3 running Ubuntu 12.04 along with the Robotic Operating System (ROS).

Currently, the several sensors mentioned are used for localizing the robot and can yield a mapping accuracy of around 20/30 cm. Adding a beacon based localization technology aims to increase the redundancy and hence the accuracy of the current localization that may be needed for more specific tasks and for a secure navigation.

More details on the AgRob project and respective specifications can be found in [108] and [2].

### 4.1.2 Pozyx System

For the UWB ranging framework implementation, we selected Pozyx [109], a commercial solution for accurate ranging, positioning and motion sensing. It consists of 5 modules with an embedded *DecaWave* [43] chip - one tag working with an Arduino UNO and 4 beacons - which together can provide raw range measurements, position estimations (2D or 3D) and orientation. The latter is achieved by fusing an accelerometer, a gyroscope, a magnetometer and a pressure sensor. The basic architecture of a Pozyx tag is depicted in Figure 4.3.



Figure 4.3: Architecture of a Pozyx Tag. Retrieved from [109]

As far as the ranging procedure is concern, it is based on the two-way TOF technique, although the system can also output the RSS of the signals received by the tag. Its expected accuracy in Line-of-Sight conditions is around 10 cm.

One of the work approaches was comparing our EKF Localization with the Pozyx algorithms. The positioning feature supports 2D, 2.5D and 3D dimensions and is provided through one of two different algorithms: *UWB-only algorithm*, that estimates the position only by the Trilateration of UWB measurements. It is specially optimized to deal with Non-Line-Of-Sight cases; *Tracking algorithm*, that also fuses IMU data and previous steps information. It is designed to work with 3D dimension and unlike *UWB-only*, requires update rates > 1 Hz. Figure 4.4a shows that both algorithms performed similarly in an indoor environment, with reported average accuracies of 92





(a) Cumulative distribution function of the positioning errors in a (x-y) plane.

(b) Experimental measured algorithm delays as a function of the number of beacons. The solid lines show the average time, whereas the shaded areas indicate the spread.

Figure 4.4: Experimental Tests under NLOS and LOS situations in a indoor environment. Adapted from [109].

mm and 140 mm respectively for LOS and NLOS situation. Figure 4.4b exposes the performance of the algorithms relatively to the duration. Given its more simple implementation, UWB-only algorithm is faster and always approximately the same, whereas the Tracking algorithm highly depends on the number of beacons used. On the other hand, the spread (minimum and maximum times measured) is much higher for UWB.

### 4.1.3 UWB configuration

The UWB communication between the modules can have different configurations that may impact the system performance, not only in terms of accuracy but also of energy consumption and update rates. These settings can be set according to four different parameters:

- **Channel**: The communication between devices has 6 independent UWB channels (Table 4.1). Generally, lower channel numbers have lower frequencies which increase the communication range.
- **Bitrate**: velocity of data transmission. The choice is either 110kbit/sec, 850kbit/sec or 6.81Mbit/sec. A higher value will result in shorter messages and consequently faster communication. It can, however, reduce receiver sensitivity and the maximum range achievable.
- **Pulse Repetition Frequency (PRF)**: rate of signal pulse repetition. It is set to either 16MHz or 64MHz. Choosing the first may reduce the power consumption, but the difference is not too significantly.
- **Preamble Length**: number of symbols sent in the UWB packet's preamble. This setting has 8 different options: 4096, 2048, 1536, 1024, 512, 256, 128, or 64 symbol. Longer lengths will commonly increase the radio range at the cost of longer transmission and receiving times.

Channel	Center Frequency (MHz)	cy Bandwidth (MHz)				
1	3494.4	499.2				
2	3993.6	499.2				
3	4492.8	499.2				
4	3993.6	1331.2				
5	6489.6	499.2				
7	6489.6	1331.2				

Table 4.1: Pozyx's UWB Channel Characteristics

For the implementations tests, firmware v0.9  $^2$ , that provides maximum data rates of 150Hz for orientation, 60Hz for ranging and 15Hz for positioning, was used.

# 4.2 Experimental Tests

To fully characterize the system and evaluate our approaches some experiments were conducted. The tests had the objective of analyzing three main aspects of the implementation:

- UWB Range Error characterization
- Pozyx positioning characterization tests
- Fusion of odometry and Pozyx ranges through EKF

To integrate Pozyx, some examples of the *Pozyx Arduino Library* [110] were adapted: *Ready\_to\_Range* (for Range-Only implementation) and *Ready\_to\_Localize* (for direct Positioning implementation). For the communication between the sensor and the Robot, a ROS node was created. The data transmission from Arduino to ROS was done by serial port using the *Termios* library <sup>3</sup> which after validation, published the information received with a rate of 10Hz in a native ROS Pose <sup>4</sup> message and in a message created for publishing an array of Pozyx ranges.

Finally, to analyze the results, test and tune the EKF, some MATLAB scripts were implemented. Since the main scope of the thesis was to study the accuracy of this implementation, post-processing in MATLAB is acceptable. In future work for a proper integration, the EKF should be converted to a ROS node.

### 4.2.1 Test Environment

For convenience and to get an accurate ground-truth, the majority of the tests took place in an outdoor environment at the Faculty of Engineering, University of Porto, Portugal (Figure 4.5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Recently, the firmware was updated but all the tests performed were still done under v0.9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Library to deal I/O interfaces http://pubs.opengroup.org/onlinepubs/7908799/xsh/termios. h.html

<sup>4</sup>ROS PoseStamped message: http://docs.ros.org/api/geometry\_msgs/html/msg/
PoseStamped.html

Although not being particularly similar to an actual vineyard, those were environments with some vegetation and with no reliable GPS signal (because of the dense building structure).

Unless said otherwise the basic UWB configuration for the tests was: **Channel** 2 (Center frequency 3993.6MHz and bandwidth 499.2 MHz), for which the antenna is supposed to have better performance according to the manufacturers; **Bitrate** 110kBit/s - we were interested in having the best range performance and the rate of transmission was not so important; **PRF**: 64MHz -the default setting was used because its value is not said to influence the performance drastically; **Preamble length**: 1024 symbols - the default was also chosen in order to have a mid-term value.

All the Pozyx positioning data was extracted via the UWB-only algorithm in 2D.



Figure 4.5: Outdoor Environment for Localization and Pozyx Error Range Tests

### 4.2.2 Pozyx Error Characterization

To get a full characterization of the Pozyx system and its error, several tests were conducted. A first preliminary experiment was made indoors to analyze both the ranges and the positioning algorithm in a small Line-of-Sight scenario (**Indoor Test**). In order to test bigger ranges and environments closer to the real one, the rest of the experiments were made outdoors (**Positioning Outdoor Test**) and **Range Outdoor Test**).

The **Indoor Test** setup consisted of an approximate rectangle of 6m x 4m with the 4 beacons positioned at the corners and the sensor placed in different positions (Figure 4.6). Both ranges and positions were extracted.

The Pozyx positioning algorithm was the focus on the **Positioning Outdoor Test**, this time outdoors and with bigger square sizes (Figure 4.7). Here two different antenna channels (2 and 7) were used in order to analyze the effect of some of the UWB parameters.

Finally, **Range Outdoor Test's** goal was to measure ranges at different distances and see how that impacted the error. As for the setup, progressively measurements to one beacon were done 1 m at a time until 10 m, 5 m at a time until 30 m and finally 10 m of interval until 60 m (1-10, 15, 20, 25, 30, 40, 50, 60 meters). The ground-truth data were obtained with a 30 m rigid measuring tape (Figure 4.8a).





Figure 4.6: Indoor test setup. The Pozyx Tag was positioned at different positions marked as red crosses in the image and both ranges and positions were extracted

Figure 4.7: Outdoor Positioning test setup. The Pozyx beacons were the corners of a 20 m x 20 m square. Different positions were extracted in an outer square ( $30m \times 30m$ ) as well as in an inner square ( $10m \times 10m$ )

Given the typical propagation sensitivity to antenna orientation, 3 different Pozyx orientations were tested: Vertical Front (with the antenna on top), Vertical Back and Horizontal 4.8b. Both the sensor and the beacon were about 20 cm from the floor.



(a) Range Test to one single beacon.



(b) Different Beacon Orientation: Horizontal (1); Vertical Back (2); Vertical Front (3)

Figure 4.8: Pozyx Range Test setup

## 4.2.3 Localization Tests

After the Pozyx characterization experiments, more real practical cases were tested. The 4 Pozyx beacons were spread in the corners of a 20 m x 20 m square, partially represented in Figure 4.9. The robot follow different trajectories so the impact of the beacons placement could also be explored. As a ground truth, a Laser Scan SLAM <sup>5</sup> was used since the GPS data acquired was nor reliable nor precise.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>computed by the Hector Slam ROS package http://wiki.ros.org/hector\_slam



Figure 4.9: Outdoor Test of Pozyx Positioning and EKF Localization. The stars show the beacons placement referent to the robot (rectangle).

## 4.2.4 Localization in a real vineyard scenario

The localization and error tests were followed by an experiment in a real vineyard scenario owned by *Sogrape* <sup>6</sup> and situated at *Quinta do Seixo*, Valença do Douro, Portugal (Figure 4.10). Taking advantage of the vineyard structured environment, the beacons were placed on top of the trellis 4.11 and formed approximately a rectangular shape (40 m x 15 m) surrounding one vineyard row. The robot navigated back and forward inside this rectangle measuring the ranges to the beacons at around 10Hz. Since only 4 beacons were used, navigation in more than one row wasn't tested for now.



Figure 4.10: AgRob Localization Tests in Quinta do Seixo

Figure 4.11: Beacon placement in a vineyard trellis

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>https://www.sograpevinhos.com/

## **Beacons Placement**

Pozyx positioning algorithms need as an input the beacon localization. Although it can be done automatically, it is generally more accurate to do it manually. Extracting the best measurements possible in a beacon-based localization usually implies following some rules of thumb regarding the beacons placement in the world:

- Place beacons high and in the line-of-sight of the user in order to reduce obstructions;
- Place beacons vertically with the antenna on top to improve the signal reception;
- Spread beacons evenly around the user trying to cover different directions. If they are for example on a straight line, this will amplify errors and create unnecessary ambiguities.

# Chapter 5

# **Results and Discussion**

The implemented approaches performance is evaluated thoroughly in this chapter. The results for the different tests are described, starting with the indoor and outdoor Pozyx Error Characterization. Subsequently, the Localization implementations are validated and compared, authenticating the previous error characterization and giving some notes on the EKF tunning. Finally, the EKF Localization performance is also analyzed for the Vineyard environment along with some considerations about its application in different conditions.

For a more detailed description of the tests setup and environments we referred to section 4.2 in the previous chapter.

# 5.1 Pozyx Error Characterization

When characterizing the performance of a system it is important to be aware that an error can have different sources and be of different types. We'll focus on both accuracy and precision analysis, which are usually linked to systematic and random errors respectively. Although both are important, in this specific case, characterizing the precision of the sensor is of particular importance since it will be used to tune the EKF. Apart from that, accuracy measures how close are the observations to the real values, therefore the chosen ground-truth will affect the outcomes. Hence, more than the actual accuracy values we'll be looking for patterns in the standard deviations.

## 5.1.1 Indoor Test

As more detailed explained in section 4.2.2, for the indoor test, the beacons were spread in the corners of an approximate rectangle [(0,0) (6.1,0) (6.1,3.9) and (0.05,4.4)] and the tag was placed in 6 different positions inside it [(1,3) (2,2) (3,2) (3,4) (4,1) (5,4)]. Figure 5.2 plots the positions extracted by the Pozyx UWB-only algorithm along with each correspondent 95 % confidence ellipse (Figure 5.2). As it can be seen, except for points (3,2) and (4,1), a cluster of outliers was observed in specific places which inflated the covariance ellipse. This ellipse, whose center represents the data mean value and whose semi axis represent the covariance, also reveals that in general, y uncertainty is significantly bigger than x (the ellipse is stretched in the y direction).

In fact, Pozyx's antenna cannot perform equally in every direction (like every practical antenna). It radiates omnidirectionally in the x-z plane but not on the y-z plane (Figure 5.1). Therefore, different orientations between tag and beacons will cause variations in the performance (as also noted later in section5.1.3).



Figure 5.1: Pozyx Tag reference frame. The UWB antenna is the white chip on top. Retrive from [111]

The outlier detection proposed in chapter 3 was applied using a Mahalanobis distance (MD) of  $\sqrt{5.99}$  (Figure 5.2b). Assuming that MD follows a chi-square distribution with 2 degrees of freedom, setting the threshold to this value implies that observations out of the 95% confidence area were cut off. By analyzing the resulting plot a small set of points for position (3,4) can still be identified. Since the two clusters of points are not only close but with almost the same x value, it is difficult to get rid of them, which was accomplished by decreasing the threshold for around  $\sqrt{2.77}$ , equivalent to  $\chi^2_{0.25}$ . One possible interpretation for the raw results could be that the best results are achieved by having the beacons evenly spread around the node. The positions for which the sensor is close to the center of the rectangle showed better estimations and with fewer outliers than the ones closer to the corners/beacons.

In what the ranges are concern, no correlation was found between the measurements and the outliers in the Pozyx UWB-only algorithm. They were quite constant overtime, fact reflected in the small and non-varying standard deviation (Figure 5.3a). Looking at the histogram shape 5.3b, we can also conclude that the error follows an approximately gaussian distribution enforcing the use of the EKF's gaussian process.

Furthermore, given that the covered area was small, no particular conclusions can be made about the correlation between the error and the distance. At a first sight, in the range of 10 meters, the error metrics appear to be constant over distances (Figure 5.3a).

In sum, the indoor test showed promising results for Pozyx. The resulting range accuracy had a mean absolute error of around 9.4 cm and an average standard deviation of 2 cm, which are very good results when comparing to another state of art technologies. Additionally, although the



Figure 5.2: Pozyx UWB-only algorithm estimated positions with respective 95% confidence ellipses.

Pozyx outputted some unwanted outliers, they were well structured in clusters which permits a faster and easier removal procedure.

### 5.1.2 Positioning Outdoor Test

In the outdoor test, differences of using two different UWB communication channels and a wider working area were investigated. A total of 8 positions were extracted spread distinctively along the corners of two squares (an inner square of 10 m side and an outer square of 30 m side). A briefly quantitative analysis was performed and exposed in Table 5.1, where we can see that the two channels performed similarly except from the positions in the outer square with channel 7. From Figure 5.4a we can deduce that the considerably large RMSE is due to the right top corner of the outer square which presents two clusters of points and a large uncertainty ellipse. After the statistical Mahalonobis Outlier detection (with  $\chi^2_{0.05}$ ) the correct points were wrongly removed causing the large error (Figure 5.4b)

Considering the differences between the inner and the outer square, the poor Geometric Dilution of Precision (GDOP, often applied to GPS localization algorithms) affecting the error is more evident in the latter. As explained in chapter 4, the beacons should be spread around the user in

Table 5.1: Pozyx UWB-only algorithm performance in two different channels. All the metrics were computed after the outlier detection phase

Channel	Inner Square					Outer Square				
Chamber	$Std_X$	$Std_Y$	Error (RMSE)	Outliers		Std(X)	Std(Y)	Error (RMSE)	Outliers	
	(IIIII)	(IIIII)	(11111)	(70)		(IIIII)	(IIIII)	(11111)	(70)	
2	61	66	243	3		37	51	1019	9	
7	60	62	206	5		535	124	5453	14	





(a) Indoor Error Metrics Results: Root Mean Square Error (RMSE) and Standard Deviation (Std)

(b) Error Distribution Histogram

Figure 5.3: Pozyx Range Error Characterization Results

Frequ

order to cover different directions, otherwise small changes in the measurements will largely affect the intersection of the trilateration circles and consequently amplify the error.

Results for channel 7 are also illustrated in Figure 5.4. Overall, as in the indoor test, the algorithm reveals a jittery and unstable performance, but this time in a much larger scale, most probably due to the wider working area. By statistically removing outliers, the resulting localization becomes cleaner (Figure 5.4b) and the error metrics fairly acceptable, however, it is still uncertain on how reliable can be its localization as a stand-alone system. This is especially true for large areas with distances between sensor and beacons easily passing the 25/30 meters range.



(a) Pozyx UWB-only algorithm results for UWB channel 7 before outlier detection

(b) after outlier detection

Figure 5.4: Pozyx UWB-only algorithm results for UWB channel 7

### 5.1.3 Range Outdoor Test

The ranging test aimed an accuracy and precision analysis of the Pozyx ranges so they could be properly used in the localization algorithm. Data was collected from a Line of Sight ranging communication between one beacon and the tag at increasing positions (1, 2, 3 ... 10, 15, 20, 25, 30, 40, 50, 60 meters) To characterize the ranging dependency on the antenna orientation, Table 5.2 was computed with the Root Mean Square Error (RMSE), Standard Deviation (Std) and percentage of time out errors (those where no actual value was measured).

Table 5.2: Refers to the performance results for different antenna orientations. Under 10 meters the results don't follow any specific pattern and are always around the same values so only their average is presented.

Distance (m)	Vertical Front			Vertical Back				Horizontal Up			
	Error (RMSE) (mm)	Std (mm)	Timeouts (%)	Error (mm)	Std (mm)	Timeouts (%)	_	Error (mm)	Std (mm)	Timeouts (%)	
<= 10	83	33	1	210	117	2		196	83	1	
15	71	36	7	1059	1060	30		342	319	61	
20	152	38	18	2371	2105	52		5319	5246	99	
25	196	35	25	112	79	40		231	180	95	
30	170	43	5	1626	1483	1		920	1464	71	
40	4959	919	15	4905	732	39					
50	129	49	10	5516	792	6					
60	2666	1095	6								

Along with Figure 5.5, the table demonstrates that both the orientation and the distance between tag and beacon have a considerable impact on the measurements. As previously explained in the indoor test (section 5.1.1) the distinct performance between x-z and y-z planes propagation can have an impact on the obtained results, so it comes as no surprise that the performance is better for the vertical front position as opposed to a horizontal one where the timeout communication errors are higher and data received after 30/40 m is not very reliable. The table also suggests that although having the same orientation, when beacon and tag antennas are not facing each other, the propagation follows a different path impacting the resulting performance.

Given higher standard deviations, the error distribution when considering all the orientations presented some unexpected big values that fall from the normal gaussian shape (Figure 5.5b). Furthermore, the performance is also clearly degraded by increasing distance as measurements become more variable (Figure 5.5a). This is also true even for the best orientation (Vertical Front) as demonstrated by the comparison of histograms 5.6a and 5.6b. The first illustrates a perfect distribution error up until 30 m between tag and sensor. On the other hand, after 30 meters, the measurements start to be less reliable presenting some higher errors.

Throughout navigation, although both the embedded sensor and the beacons can be placed vertically, they will have different orientations towards each other. Thus, in future work, it will be interesting to do a more intensive study of these differences and to include a bearing measurement in the sensor observation model for the EKF. For now, we'll be focusing on the results for the vertical front orientation to define the error variables of the filter.



Figure 5.5: Pozyx Ranges Error for Different Orientations



Figure 5.6: Pozyx Ranges Error Distribution for Vertical Front orientation

Generally, if restricted to around 30 meters, the ranging procedure achieves a good accuracy with an RMSE between 4 to 20 cm and a standard deviation of around 2/6 mm (Figure 5.7), showing that, if carefully integrated the sensor can be highly valuable for the localization system.

Finally, since the sensor provides the received signal strength of every communication, we also tested the ability of processing outliers by this metric. Unfortunately, the UWB RSS didn't show any particular pattern relatively to the ranges that provided higher errors (Figure 5.8). Although, having a tendency of decaying with increasing distances and slightly different values for different orientations, more complex tests should be performed if in need of an accurate antenna propagation model.

# 5.2 Outdoor Localization Test

Passing on to the actual robot localization system, data processing and analysis was done with two main objectives. Firstly, the EKF tuning and then, the comparison our implementation with



Figure 5.7: Standard Deviations over distance

Figure 5.8: Received Signal Strength for different distances and orientations

the Pozyx UWB-only algorithm and with other sources of localization, namely the raw Odometry readings and a Laser Scan using a precomputed map obtained by a SLAM method (considered as ground truth).

### 5.2.0.1 EKF Tuning

An important step in the post-processing step was the EKF tuning. Changing its parameters affects the convergence of the algorithm as well as the smoothness of the resulting trajectory estimation. Considering the previous noise characterization, R and Q were adjusted so that the estimation results presented weren't neither to noise sensitive neither too slow. The effect of different choices of Q and R is showed in figure 5.9, in which we can see a clearly smoother trajectory for R > Q. One of the reasons could be the faster update rate of odometry. Trusting too much on range measurements given that they don't come as often as the odometry ones, will induce jumps in the trajectory. On the other hand, for smaller Q's the algorithm will converge much slower to the real trajectory, as inspected in Figure 5.9c using a poor initial state estimation.

After some trial error tests on different datasets, Q was adjusted to  $\begin{pmatrix} 0.01 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0.01 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0.02 \end{pmatrix}$ . R's

value, by its turn, was set accordingly to the variance obtained in the Pozyx Range Characterization. From the difference observed on ranges until 30 meters, we decided to have a variable R accordingly to the measured distance. R is 0.3 if the range is smaller than 30 m and 0.9 otherwise. Regarding the initial state estimates,  $P_0$  is a 3x3 identity matrix and  $x_0$  can be fairly approximated by  $X_0Odom$ .

Relatively to the outlier detection phase, the ranging measurements didn't result in many outliers, except for the timeout ones which are instantly observed and don't need further calculations to be detected (Figure 5.10). Therefore, the effect of including the Outlier Detection Filter is not a big improvement simply because there are not many outliers to get rid of. To further test the effectiveness of the filter more tests with wider areas should be done.



(a) EKF Estimation with higher confidence in ranges

(b) EKF Estimation with higher confidence in motion model

(c) EKF convergence with different tunning parameters given poor initial state estimation

Figure 5.9: EKF Localization Tunning

### 5.2.0.2 Pozyx Positioning vs Pozyx Range + EKF

The Pozyx Positioning and the EKF Localization are compared in Figure 5.11. Both the procedures yield reasonable results, especially when compared to the Odometry localization that is clearly affected by some wheel slippage in the curves (Figure 5.11a). However, as presented in Figure 5.11b, the native Pozyx Localization presents a lot more outliers than our EKF Localization.

Lastly, further evaluation was done by exploring different trajectories in which once again the EKF Localization outperforms the Pozyx UWB-only algorithm. The larger number of outliers for the Pozyx Positioning algorithm in Figure 5.12c also give some notes on the right positioning of the beacons relatively to the sensor. Since it only trilaterates UWB ranges, the output is more sensitive to the overall network "geometric arrangement" and the fact that it is only moving near two of the beacons seems to impact the resulting performance. Thus, one can conclude that the beacons should be spread out as evenly as possible around the robot's trajectory area so different directions can be covered. Contrarily to the Pozyx algorithm, the EKF Localization is not based on this method so it doesn't seem to be so affected by this issue.

# 5.3 Vineyard Localization Test

The first test in the real vineyard showed promising results regarding our EKF implementation but also highlighted some of the precautions that should be taken into account in the presence of more complex environments. For instance, because we were dealing with a wider and curvier area, ground truth measurements for both the trajectory and the beacons locations were difficult to obtain. The GPS signal in the vineyard is not particularly strong, neither is its accuracy and using other measuring instruments is tricky and not precise. Hence, we used the Pozyx ranges to "automatically" calibrate the beacons positions by trilateration. We further computed AgRob's



Figure 5.10: Ranging measurements over time in the Outdoor Localization Test



Figure 5.11: EKF Localization and Pozyx UWB-only algorithm results comparison

laser data with *Hector Slam* as in the previous tests for reference ground truth. The calibration of the beacons was done in the post-processing phase and validated through comparison with Geolocation. Since it was all done a-posteriori, the Pozyx native algorithm (which needs the beacons mapping as input) wasn't tested and thus is not presented in this section. However, having tested the accuracy of the calibration by the beacons ranges, it would be interesting to also compare that in future Vineyard tests.

At a first sight, we analyze the impact of the denser environment in the ranging measurements. Figure 5.13 suggests a larger number of outliers due to timeout communication (plotted as 0) and a maximum range of 50 meters, although it may not be that reliable after 30 meters, confirming the Outdoor Ranging Test results. In light of the harder conditions with, for example, vegetation possibly blocking radio communication, the results achieved corroborate the UWB technology advantages in multipath environments and complex systems.

Additionally, the failures of odometry due to the harsh terrain are well demonstrated in Figure 5.14b. The robot navigates through one vineyard row and comes back to the initial point, but the



Figure 5.12: Pozyx Algorithm and EKF Localization on Different trajectories



Figure 5.13: Ranging measurements over time in the Vineyard Localization Test



(a) EKF Localization Results with previous tunned parameters from section 5.2.0.1

(b) Newly tunned EKF Localization compared with Odometry

Figure 5.14: Localization Estimation in a Vineyard Environment

odometry localization completely goes off path at the middle of the trajectory. Because it is fused with the range observations, the impact of this divergence on the EKF algorithm is present but not critical.

Our implementation performs less smoother than the localization tests done in the previous tests, but it can still give a very fair approximation of the truth localization. Four beacons spread in a vineyard row showed to accurately localize the robot. On the other hand, ranges are limited to 40/50 meters, which even though is a very decent result considering the environmental conditions, may present some issues when navigating through different rows further away. From this reason, a bigger network of sensor beacons would be very interesting to test in the vineyard to increase the operating range.

Lastly, it should be noted that the EKF as tuned in section 5.2.0.1 did not perform as good (Figure 5.14a). Instead, different parameters were used, increasing the expected uncertainty of the odometry motion model ( $Q = 100Q_{previousTest}$ ). This comes as a confirmation of one of the (expected) EKF disadvantages: the delicate process of tunning the filter and its variation in different environmental conditions. This was already expected given the vineyard's rocky and uneven terrain as opposed the first test one. Table 5.3 summarizes the impact of different EKF parameters on the resulting localization. More confidence in odometry measurements (Figure 5.14a) yields a smoother algorithm but diverges at some point whereas more confidence in ranging data (Figure 5.14b) leads to a less smoother result but the localization converges to the ground-truth.

**EKF** Parameters Impact Figure  $Q_X$ Qθ  $Q_Y$ R **Odometry Confidence** Pozyx Confidence Smoothness Convergence 0.01 0.01 0.3 5.14a 0.01 X 5.14b 1 1 1 0.3 +

Table 5.3: Impact of different EKF Tunning Parameters on Localization

# **Chapter 6**

# **Conclusions and Future Work**

During the work developed, a beacon-based localization was successfully implemented and evaluated in an agricultural robot.

The proposed EKF implementation presented better results than the UWB-only Pozyx Algorithm leading to smoother estimations of the robot's pose and proving its efficiency in robotics probabilistic estimation. On the other hand, after tests in different environments, the need for a careful tunning procedure was evident. This process revealed to be fairly easy in more stable environments like the one from the first localization test outdoors, but required more attention in the vineyard scenario. One of the reasons is the fact that the Odometry performed much poorer given a highly uneven terrain which affects the resulting estimation. Hence the need to give more confidence to the Pozyx measurements in the last test. Although presenting differences in the number of timeout communication errors, Pozyx working ranges remained about the same for the vineyard scenario which can be an important factor to deal with odometry errors. It also comes as a confirmation of the good balance between these two sources for a fusion algorithm.

The Pozyx Algorithm, in turn, showed some undesired outliers and unstable performance. Being based on the trilateration concept, it demonstrated to be more sensitive to the beacons placement. All in all, it can still be seen as a good alternative provided with good filtering

Future work regarding the ToF UWB localization system will include more intensively studies on the effect of the different UWB parameters as well as the antenna orientation and environment constraints (LOS vs NLOS). Having, for instance, a calibration phase to identify LOS and NLOS conditions would help to increase the confidence on range measurements. This better error and noise modeling would permit to expand the localization to larger and harder environments and higher working distances.

Furthermore, regarding the actual EKF localization some points could be part of future implementation:

 Fusion of Odometry and Ranges with IMU data. IMU could serve as another reference for a better accuracy but also validate odometry measurements by detecting, for example, wheel slippage situations;

- Test different outlier removal techniques like threshold by analysis of the mode or correlation with velocities given by other sources of information. Although the Mahalanobis Distance is usually employed for multivariate data, in the case of the Pozyx algorithm, different clusters of points were identified in some cases and the MD failed to remove the outliers;
- 3. More tests in the vineyard should be performed to get a more robust *in-loco* EKF parameterization. Different trajectories further away from the beacon's position can also be tested as well as measuring the performance of the Pozyx Algorithm (which wasn't done in the first test);
- 4. Adding more beacons to the system covering a wider range area and get a more redundant estimation;
- 5. Adding bearing measurements to the observation model in order to also have estimates of the orientation.

Finally, as previously mentioned, the higher complexity of the vineyard environment impacts the EKF performance. To deal with possible growing non-linearities introduced by this complexity and to have a more robust implementation against environment changes, an alternative filter, like a Particle Filter, can also be studied in the future.

Overall, this first work with Pozyx showed that it is a good and effective tool to improve the robot localization in a complex environment given its good accuracy/cost trade-off. This will help to increase the redundancy of AgRob or any other robot within a complex environment improving its localization accuracy. The still not so explored tools of the system can still help to better characterize the UWB technology and understand the effects of its configuration and the environment in the final localization.

# References

- [1] Sebastian Thrun. *Probabilistic robotics*, volume 45. 2002. URL: http://portal.acm. org/citation.cfm?doid=504729.504754, doi:10.1145/504729.504754.
- [2] Filipe Baptista Neves dos Santos, Heber Miguel Placido Sobreira, Daniel Filipe Barros Campos, Raul Manuel Pereira Morais dos Santos, Antonio Paulo Gomes Mendes Moreira, and Olga Maria Sousa Contente. Towards a Reliable Monitoring Robot for Mountain Vineyards. In 2015 IEEE International Conference on Autonomous Robot Systems and Competitions, pages 37–43. IEEE, 4 2015. URL: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/ document/7101608/, doi:10.1109/ICARSC.2015.21.
- [3] Jorge Mendes, Filipe Neves dos Santos, Nuno Ferraz, Pedro Couto, and Raul Morais. Vine Trunk Detector for a Reliable Robot Localization System. In 2016 International Conference on Autonomous Robot Systems and Competitions (ICARSC), pages 1–6. IEEE, 5 2016. URL: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/7781945/, doi:10. 1109/ICARSC.2016.68.
- [4] Marcos Duarte, Filipe Neves dos Santos, Armando Sousa, and Raul Morais. Agricultural Wireless Sensor Mapping for Robot Localization. pages 359–370. Springer, Cham, 2016. URL: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-27146-0\_28, doi:10.1007/978-3-319-27146-0{\\_}28.
- [5] J Borenstein, H R Everett, L Feng, and D Wehe. Mobile Robot Positioning: Sensors and Techniques. Journal of Robotic Systems @BULLET Journal of Robotic Systems—1997, 14(4):231-249, 1997. URL: https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/bitstream/ handle/2027.42/34938/2\_ftp.pdf.
- [6] T H Post. *Precise localization of a UAV using visual odometry*. PhD thesis, University of Twente, 12 2015.
- [7] Vitor Guizilini and Fabio Ramos. Visual Odometry Learning for Unmanned Aerial Vehicles. URL: http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download; jsessionid=FD21AE00ED97FDF539F925D6369A164C?doi=10.1.1.1011. 2351&rep=rep1&type=pdf.
- [8] D.M. Helmick, Yang Cheng, and S.I. Roumeliotis. Path following using visual odometry for a Mars rover in high-slip environments. In 2004 IEEE Aerospace Conference Proceedings (IEEE Cat. No.04TH8720), volume 2, pages 772–789. IEEE. URL: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/1367679/, doi:10.1109/AER0.2004.1367679.

- [9] J. Cobos, L. Pacheco, X. Cufi, and D. Caballero. Integrating visual odometry and dead-reckoning for robot localization and obstacle detection. In 2010 IEEE International Conference on Automation, Quality and Testing, Robotics (AQTR), pages 1–6. IEEE, 5 2010. URL: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/5520874/, doi: 10.1109/AQTR.2010.5520874.
- [10] Gökhan Kul, Tansel Özyer, and Bülent Tavli. IEEE 802.11 WLAN based Real Time Indoor Positioning: Literature Survey and Experimental Investigations. *Procedia Computer Science*, 34:157–164, 1 2014. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S1877050914009338, doi:10.1016/J.PROCS.2014.07.078.
- [11] Faheem Zafari, Athanasios Gkelias, and Kin Leung. A Survey of Indoor Localization Systems and Technologies. 9 2017. URL: http://arxiv.org/abs/1709.01015.
- [12] European Space Agency. Navipedia. URL: http://www.navipedia.net/index. php/Main\_Page.
- [13] Richard Willgoss and unsweduau Vivian Rosenfeld. High Precision GPS Guidance of Mobile Robots. URL: http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi= 10.1.1.71.5344&rep=rep1&type=pdf.
- [14] Edward A. LeMaster and Stephen M. Rock. A Local-Area GPS Pseudolite-Based Navigation System for Mars Rovers. Autonomous Robots, 14(2/3):209-224, 2003. URL: http://link.springer.com/10.1023/A:1022235803970, doi:10.1023/A: 1022235803970.
- [15] Noboru Noguchi, Mlchio Kise, John F. Reid, and Qin Zhang. Autonomous Vehicle Based on GPS and Inertial Sensors. *IFAC Proceedings Volumes*, 34(11):105– 110, 8 2001. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S1474667017341150, doi:10.1016/S1474-6670(17)34115-0.
- [16] Jun Zhou and Hamidreza Bolandhemmat. Integrated INS/GPS System for an Autonomous Mobile Vehicle. In 2007 International Conference on Mechatronics and Automation, pages 694–699. IEEE, 8 2007. URL: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/ 4303628/, doi:10.1109/ICMA.2007.4303628.
- [17] František Duchoň, Martin Dekan, Ladislav Jurišica, and Anton Vitko. Some Applications of Laser Rangefinder in Mobile Robotics. CEAI, 14(2):50–57, 2012.
- [18] Shung Han Cho and Sangjin Hong. Map based indoor robot navigation and localization using laser range finder. In 2010 11th International Conference on Control Automation Robotics & Vision, pages 1559–1564. IEEE, 12 2010. URL: http://ieeexplore. ieee.org/document/5707420/, doi:10.1109/ICARCV.2010.5707420.
- [19] D. Schulz, W. Burgard, D. Fox, and A.B. Cremers. Tracking multiple moving targets with a mobile robot using particle filters and statistical data association. In *Proceedings 2001 ICRA. IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (Cat. No.01CH37164*), volume 2, pages 1665–1670. IEEE. URL: http://ieeexplore. ieee.org/document/932850/, doi:10.1109/ROBOT.2001.932850.
- [20] Jiwoong Kim and Woojin Chung. Localization of a Mobile Robot Using a Laser Range Finder in a Glass-Walled Environment. *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, 63(6):3616–3627, 6 2016. URL: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/ 7395337/, doi:10.1109/TIE.2016.2523460.
- [21] Dragomir Anguelov, Rahul Biswas, Daphne Koller, Benson Limketkai, Scott Sanner, and Sebastian Thrun. Learning Hierarchical Object Maps Of Non-Stationary Environments With Mobile Robots. URL: http://robots.stanford.edu/papers/anguelov. uai02.pdf.
- [22] Chieh-Chih Wang, C. Thorpe, and S. Thrun. Online simultaneous localization and mapping with detection and tracking of moving objects: theory and results from a ground vehicle in crowded urban areas. In 2003 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (Cat. No.03CH37422), volume 1, pages 842–849. IEEE. URL: http://ieeexplore. ieee.org/document/1241698/, doi:10.1109/ROBOT.2003.1241698.
- [23] Joydeep Biswas and Manuela Veloso. Multi-Sensor Mobile Robot Localization For Diverse Environments. URL: http://www.cs.cmu.edu/~mmv/papers/ 13robocup-BiswasVeloso.pdf.
- [24] K W Her, D H Kim, and J E Ha. Localization of mobile robot using laser range finder and IR landmark. In 2012 12th International Conference on Control, Automation and Systems, pages 459–461, 2012.
- [25] Nak Ko and Tae-Yong Kuc. Fusing Range Measurements from Ultrasonic Beacons and a Laser Range Finder for Localization of a Mobile Robot. Sensors, 15(5):11050–11075, 5 2015. URL: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25970259http://www. pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=PMC4481944http: //www.mdpi.com/1424-8220/15/5/11050/, doi:10.3390/s150511050.
- [26] Evgeny Kupershtein. Indoor Localization based on Multipath Fingerprinting. PhD thesis. URL: http://webee.technion.ac.il/people/IsraelCohen/Info/ Graduates/PDF/EvgenyKupershtein\_MSc\_2013.pdf.
- [27] Maani Ghaffari Jadidi, Mitesh Patel, and Jaime Valls Miro. Gaussian Processes Online Observation Classification for RSSI-based Low-cost Indoor Positioning Systems. 9 2016. URL: http://arxiv.org/abs/1609.03130.
- [28] Aswin N Raghavan, Harini Ananthapadmanaban, Manimaran S Sivamurugan, and Balaraman Ravindran. Accurate mobile robot localization in indoor environments using bluetooth. In 2010 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation, pages 4391– 4396. IEEE, 5 2010. URL: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/5509232/, doi:10.1109/ROBOT.2010.5509232.
- [29] Joydeep Biswas and Manuela Veloso. WiFi Localization and Navigation for Autonomous Indoor Mobile Robots. URL: http://www.cs.cmu.edu/~mmv/papers/ 10icra-joydeep.pdf.
- [30] Carlos E. Galvan T, Issac Galvan-Tejada, Ernesto Ivan Sandoval, and Ramon Brena. Wifi bluetooth based combined positioning algorithm. *Procedia Engineering*, 35:101–108, 1 2012. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S187770581201805X, doi:10.1016/J.PROENG.2012.04.170.
- [31] Lighthouse.io. Indoor Location Technologies Compared: GPS, WiFi, iBeacon & amp; RFID. URL: https://lighthouse.io/ indoor-location-technologies-compared/.

- [32] Jue Wang, Fadel Adib, Ross Knepper, Dina Katabi, and Daniela Rus. RF-Compass: Robot Object Manipulation Using RFIDs. URL: https://people.csail.mit.edu/ fadel/papers/rfcompass-paper.pdf, doi:10.1145/2500423.2500451.
- [33] Byoung-Suk Choi and Ju-Jang Lee. Mobile robot localization in indoor environment using RFID and sonar fusion system. In 2009 IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems, pages 2039–2044. IEEE, 10 2009. URL: http://ieeexplore. ieee.org/document/5354104/, doi:10.1109/IROS.2009.5354104.
- [34] Hung-Hsing Lin, Ching-Chih Tsai, and Yi-Yu Li. Global pose localization of an autonomous wheeled mobile robot by fusing active RFID and ranging laser scanner: A fuzzy extended information filtering approach. In 2008 SICE Annual Conference, pages 2956–2961. IEEE, 8 2008. URL: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/lpdocs/epic03/wrapper.htm?arnumber=4655169, doi:10.1109/SICE.2008.4655169.
- [35] D. Hahnel, W. Burgard, D. Fox, K. Fishkin, and M. Philipose. Mapping and localization with RFID technology. In *IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation*, 2004. Proceedings. ICRA '04. 2004, pages 1015–1020. IEEE, 2004. URL: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/1307283/, doi:10.1109/ROBOT. 2004.1307283.
- [36] Songmin Jia, Erzhe Shang, Takafumi Abe, and Kunikatsu Takase. Localization of Mobile Robot with RFID Technology and Stereo Vision. In 2006 International Conference on Mechatronics and Automation, pages 508–513. IEEE, 6 2006. URL: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/4026135/, doi:10. 1109/ICMA.2006.257605.
- [37] Ultra Wideband Systems and Technologies, IEEE Conference on. URL: http:// ieeexplore.ieee.org/xpl/conhome.jsp?punumber=1000769.
- [38] S. Gezici, Zhi Tian, G.B. Giannakis, H. Kobayashi, A.F. Molisch, H.V. Poor, and Z. Sahinoglu. Localization via ultra-wideband radios: a look at positioning aspects for future sensor networks. *IEEE Signal Processing Magazine*, 22(4):70–84, 7 2005. URL: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/1458289/, doi:10. 1109/MSP.2005.1458289.
- [39] Decawave. REAL TIME LOCATION SYSTEMS An Introduction Introduction to Real Time Location Systems. URL: https://www.decawave.com/sites/default/ files/resources/aps003\_dw1000\_rtls\_introduction.pdf.
- [40] G. Bellusci. Ultra-wideband ranging for low-complexity indoor positioning applications. PhD thesis, T.U Delft, 2011. URL: https://repository.tudelft.nl/ islandora/object/uuid:442168a5-806f-4d64-97a7-0dd5f5b5d513.
- [41] Marko Malajner, Peter Planinsic, and Dusan Gleich. UWB ranging accuracy. In 2015 International Conference on Systems, Signals and Image Processing (IWSSIP), pages 61– 64. IEEE, 9 2015. URL: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/7314177/, doi:10.1109/IWSSIP.2015.7314177.
- [42] M.P. Wylie and J. Holtzman. The non-line of sight problem in mobile location estimation. In Proceedings of ICUPC - 5th International Conference on Universal Personal Communications, volume 2, pages 827–831. IEEE. URL: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/ document/562692/, doi:10.1109/ICUPC.1996.562692.

- [43] DecaWave. URL: https://www.decawave.com/.
- [44] Ubisense. URL: https://ubisense.net/en.
- [45] UNISET. Sequitur. URL: http://www.unisetcompany.com/ sequitur-family-en.
- [46] Time Domain. URL: http://www.timedomain.com/.
- [47] Abdellah Chehri, Paul Fortier, and Pierre Martin Tardif. UWB-based sensor networks for localization in mining environments. Ad Hoc Networks, 7(5):987–1000, 7 2009. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/s157087050800125x, doi:10.1016/J.ADHOC.2008.08.007.
- [48] C N Paulson, J T Chang, C E Romero, J Watson, F J Pearce, N Levin, Christine N Paulson, John T Chang, Carlos E Romero, Joe Watson, Fj Pearce, and Nathan Levin. Ultra-wideband Radar Methods and Techniques of Medical Sensing and Imaging. 2005. URL: https: //e-reports-ext.llnl.gov/pdf/325992.pdf.
- [49] Sivanand Krishnan, Pankaj Sharma, Zhang Guoping, and Ong Hwee Woon. A UWB based Localization System for Indoor Robot Navigation. In 2007 IEEE International Conference on Ultra-Wideband, pages 77–82. IEEE, 9 2007. URL: http://ieeexplore.ieee. org/document/4380919/, doi:10.1109/ICUWB.2007.4380919.
- [50] J. González, J.L. Blanco, C. Galindo, A. Ortiz-de Galisteo, J.A. Fernández-Madrigal, F.A. Moreno, and J.L. Martínez. Mobile robot localization based on Ultra-Wide-Band ranging: A particle filter approach. *Robotics and Autonomous Systems*, 57(5):496– 507, 5 2009. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0921889008001747, doi:10.1016/J.ROBOT.2008.10.022.
- [51] J. Gonzalez, J. L. Blanco, C. Galindo, A. Ortiz-de Galisteo, J.A. Fernandez-Madrigal, F.A. Moreno, and J.L. Martinez. Combination of UWB and GPS for indoor-outdoor vehicle localization. In 2007 IEEE International Symposium on Intelligent Signal Processing, pages 1–6. IEEE, 2007. URL: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/4447550/, doi:10.1109/WISP.2007.4447550.
- [52] Kexin Guo, Zhirong Qiu, Cunxiao Miao, Abdul Hanif Zaini, Chun-Lin Chen, Wei Meng, and Lihua Xie. Ultra - Wideband - Based Localization for Quadcopter Navigation. URL: http://www.timedomain.com/wp/wp-content/uploads/2015/ 11/GuoKexin\_unmanned-systems.pdf, doi:10.1142/S2301385016400033.
- [53] R. E. Kalman. A New Approach to Linear Filtering and Prediction Problems. Journal of Basic Engineering, 82(1):35, 3 1960. URL: http://FluidsEngineering. asmedigitalcollection.asme.org/article.aspx?articleid=1430402, doi:10.1115/1.3662552.
- [54] Changan Liu, Sheng Zhang, Hua Wu, and Ruifang Dong. A Flying Robot Localization Method Based on Multi-sensor Fusion Regular Paper. URL: http://cdn. intechopen.com/pdfs/47805.pdf, doi:10.5772/58927.
- [55] Ling Chen, Huosheng Hu, and Klaus McDonald-Maier. EKF Based Mobile Robot Localization. In 2012 Third International Conference on Emerging Security Technologies, pages 149–154. IEEE, 9 2012. URL: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/ 6328101/, doi:10.1109/EST.2012.19.

- [56] Andre M Santana, Anderson A S Sousa, Ricardo S Britto, Pablo J Alsina, and Adelardo A D Medeiros. LOCALIZATION OF A MOBILE ROBOT BASED IN ODOMETRY AND NATURAL LANDMARKS USING EXTENDED KALMAN FILTER. URL: https://ai2-s2-pdfs.s3.amazonaws.com/84c8/ 7421c6e56521d56cc07e1e31ea610cca9691.pdf.
- [57] Luka Tesli, Igor Škrjanc, and Gregor Klančar. EKF-Based Localization of a Wheeled Mobile Robot in Structured Environments. J Intell Robot Syst. URL: https://pdfs. semanticscholar.org/14f5/d12c8954dbcc33a9ddcfa05091853ed47ba9. pdf?\_ga=2.165771771.473546148.1514446065-1413815285.1514446065, doi:10.1007/s10846-010-9441-8.
- [58] K. Ohno, T. Tsubouchi, B. Shigematsu, S. Maeyama, and S. Yuta. Outdoor navigation of a mobile robot between buildings based on DGPS and odometry data fusion. In 2003 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (Cat. No.03CH37422), pages 1978–1984. IEEE. URL: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/1241884/, doi:10.1109/ROBOT.2003.1241884.
- [59] T T Hoang, P M Duong, N T T Van, D A Viet, and T Q Vinh. Multi-Sensor Perceptual System for Mobile Robot and Sensor Fusion-based Localization. URL: https://arxiv. org/ftp/arxiv/papers/1611/1611.07114.pdf.
- [60] Simon J Julier and Jeerey K Uhlmann. A New Extension of the Kalman Filter to Nonlinear Systems. URL: https://people.eecs.berkeley.edu/~pabbeel/ cs287-fa15/optreadings/JulierUhlmann-UKF.pdf.
- [61] F. Martinelli. Robot localization: comparable performance of EKF and UKF in some interesting indoor settings. In 2008 16th Mediterranean Conference on Control and Automation, pages 499–504. IEEE, 6 2008. URL: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/ 4602030/, doi:10.1109/MED.2008.4602030.
- [62] Luigi D'Alfonso, Walter Lucia, Pietro Muraca, and Paolo Pugliese. Mobile robot localization via EKF and UKF: A comparison based on real data. *Robotics and Autonomous Systems*, 74:122–127, 12 2015. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0921889015001517, doi:10.1016/J.ROBOT.2015.07.007.
- [63] Antonio Giannitrapani, Nicola Ceccarelli, Fabrizio Scortecci, and Andrea Garulli. Comparison of EKF and UKF for Spacecraft Localization via Angle Measurements. *IEEE Transactions on Aerospace and Electronic Systems*, 47(1):75–84, 1 2011. URL: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/5705660/, doi:10. 1109/TAES.2011.5705660.
- [64] W. Burgard, A. Derr, D. Fox, and A.B. Cremers. Integrating global position estimation and position tracking for mobile robots: the dynamic Markov localization approach. In *Proceedings. 1998 IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems. Innovations in Theory, Practice and Applications (Cat. No.98CH36190)*, volume 2, pages 730–735. IEEE. URL: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/727279/, doi: 10.1109/IROS.1998.727279.
- [65] Sebastian Thrun. Particle Filters in Robotics. 2002. URL: http://www.cs.cmu.edu/.

- [66] Antoni Burguera, Yolanda González, and Gabriel Oliver. Mobile Robot Localization using Particle Filters and Sonar Sensors. URL: http://cdn.intechopen.com/pdfs/ 6023/InTech-Mobile\_robot\_localization\_using\_particle\_filters\_ and\_sonar\_sensors.pdf.
- [67] J Woo, Y j. Kim, J o. Lee, and M t. Lim. Localization of Mobile Robot using Particle Filter. In 2006 SICE-ICASE International Joint Conference, pages 3031–3034, 2006. doi: 10.1109/SICE.2006.315151.
- [68] Franois Caron, Manuel Davy, Emmanuel Duflos, and Philippe Vanheeghe. Particle Filtering for Multisensor Data Fusion With Switching Observation Models: Application to Land Vehicle Positioning. *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, 55(6):2703–2719, 6 2007. URL: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/4203044/, doi:10.1109/TSP.2007.893914.
- [69] Frank Dellaert, Dieter Fox, Wolfram Burgard, and Sebastian Thrun. Monte Carlo Localization for Mobile Robots. URL: https://www.ri.cmu.edu/pub\_files/pub1/ dellaert\_frank\_1999\_2/dellaert\_frank\_1999\_2.pdf.
- [70] M.W.M.G. Dissanayake, P. Newman, S. Clark, H.F. Durrant-Whyte, and M. Csorba. A solution to the simultaneous localization and map building (SLAM) problem. *IEEE Transactions on Robotics and Automation*, 17(3):229–241, 6 2001. URL: http://ieeexplore. ieee.org/document/938381/, doi:10.1109/70.938381.
- [71] H. Durrant-Whyte and T. Bailey. Simultaneous localization and mapping: part I. *IEEE Robotics & Automation Magazine*, 13(2):99–110, 6 2006. URL: http://ieeexplore. ieee.org/document/1638022/, doi:10.1109/MRA.2006.1638022.
- [72] J.J. Leonard and H.F. Durrant-Whyte. Mobile robot localization by tracking geometric beacons. *IEEE Transactions on Robotics and Automation*, 7(3):376–382, 6 1991. URL: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/88147/, doi:10.1109/70.88147.
- [73] Randall Smith ', Matthew Self<sup>\*</sup>, and Peter Cheesemans. Estimating Uncertain Spatial Relationships in Robotics<sup>\*</sup>. URL: https://www.frc.ri.cmu.edu/~hpm/project. archive/reference.file/Smith, Self&Cheeseman.pdf.
- [74] W.D. Rencken. Concurrent localisation and map building for mobile robots using ultrasonic sensors. In *Proceedings of 1993 IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems (IROS '93)*, volume 3, pages 2192–2197. IEEE. URL: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/583932/, doi:10.1109/IROS.1993.583932.
- [75] D.J. Kriegman, E. Triendl, and T.O. Binford. Stereo vision and navigation in buildings for mobile robots. *IEEE Transactions on Robotics and Automation*, 5(6):792–803, 1989. URL: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/88100/, doi:10.1109/70.88100.
- [76] S.B. Williams, P. Newman, G. Dissanayake, and H. Durrant-Whyte. Autonomous underwater simultaneous localisation and map building. In *Proceedings 2000 ICRA*. *Millennium Conference. IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation. Symposia Proceedings (Cat. No.00CH37065)*, volume 2, pages 1793–1798. IEEE. URL: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/844855/, doi:10.1109/ROBOT.2000.844855.

- [77] Xinzheng Zhang, Ahmad B Rad, and Yiu-Kwong Wong. Sensor Fusion of Monocular Cameras and Laser Rangefinders for Line-Based Simultaneous Localization and Mapping (SLAM) Tasks in Autonomous Mobile Robots. *Sensors*, 12:429–452, 2012. URL: www. mdpi.com/journal/sensors, doi:10.3390/s120100429.
- [78] Christian Forster, Matia Pizzoli, and Davide Scaramuzza. Air-ground localization and map augmentation using monocular dense reconstruction. In 2013 IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems, pages 3971-3978. IEEE, 11 2013. URL: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/6696924/, doi:10. 1109/IROS.2013.6696924.
- [79] Michael Montemerlo, William Whittaker, Sebastian Thrun, Anthony Stentz, and Dieter Fox. *FastSLAM: A Factored Solution to the Simultaneous Localization and Mapping Problem With Unknown Data Association*. PhD thesis, The Robotics Institute Carnegie Mellon University, 2003. URL: http://www.cs.cmu.edu/~mmde-thesis.pdf.
- [80] Chanki Kim, R. Sakthivel, and Wan Kyun Chung. Unscented FastSLAM: A Robust Algorithm for the Simultaneous Localization and Mapping Problem. In *Proceedings 2007 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation*, pages 2439–2445. IEEE, 4 2007. URL: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/4209449/, doi:10. 1109/ROBOT.2007.363685.
- [81] Arnaud Doucet. Rao-Blackwellised Particle Filtering for Dynamic Bayesian Networks. UNCERTAINTY IN ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE PROCEEDINGS, 2000. URL: https: //arxiv.org/ftp/arxiv/papers/1301/1301.3853.pdf.
- [82] Giorgio Grisetti, Gian Diego Tipaldi, Cyrill Stachniss, Wolfram Burgard, and Daniele Nardi. Fast and Accurate SLAM with Rao-Blackwellized Particle Filters. URL: http://www2.informatik.uni-freiburg.de/~stachnis/pdf/ grisetti07jras.pdf.
- [83] Hugh Durrant-Whyte, Somajyoti Majumder, Sebastian Thrun, Marc de Battista, and Steve Scheding. A Bayesian Algorithm for Simultaneous Localisation and Map Building. pages 49–60. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2003. URL: http://link.springer.com/10. 1007/3-540-36460-9\_4, doi:10.1007/3-540-36460-9{\\_}4.
- [84] Michal Mazur. Six Ways Drones Are Revolutionizing Agriculture, 2016. URL: https://www.technologyreview.com/s/601935/ six-ways-drones-are-revolutionizing-agriculture/.
- [85] Frank Tobe. The Ultimate Guide to Agricultural Robotics, 2014. URL: https: //www.roboticsbusinessreview.com/agriculture/the\_ultimate\_ guide\_to\_agricultural\_robotics/.
- [86] Wall-Ye. URL: http://wall-ye.com/.
- [87] ZUCCHETTI. Agrirobot | Robot for automatic soil management and treatment of the Vineyard. URL: http://www.zcscompany.com/en/solutions/view/agrirobot.
- [88] Mitul Raval, Aniket Dhandhukia, and Supath Mohile. Development and Automation of Robot with Spraying Mechanism for Agricultural Applications. INTERNA-TIONAL JOURNAL FOR RESEARCH IN EMERGING SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY,

8(228):2015-2015. URL: http://ijrest.net/downloads/volume-2/issue-8/pid-ijrest-28201528.pdf.

- [89] A. Ruckelshausen, P. Biber, M. Dorna, H. Gremmes, R. Klose, A. Linz, R. Rahe, R. Resch, M. Thiel, and D. Trautz. BoniRob: an autonomous field robot platform for individual plant phenotyping. EUROPEAN CONFER-ENCE ON PRECISION AGRICULTURE. Wageningen Academic, Netherlands, 2009. URL: https://www.tib.eu/en/search/id/BLCP%3ACN073826043/ BoniRob-an-autonomous-field-robot-platform-for/.
- [90] Peter Biber, Ulrich Weiss, Michael Dorna, and Amos Albert. Navigation system of the autonomous agricultural robot Bonirob. In Workshop on Agricultural Robotics: Enabling Safe, Efficient, and Affordable Robots for Food Production (Collocated with IROS 2012), Vilamoura, Portugal, 2012.
- [91] VINEyardROBOT. URL: http://www.vinerobot.eu/.
- [92] VINBOT | VINBOT Site Oficial. URL: http://vinbot.eu/?lang=pt.
- [93] Thomas Pilarski, Michael Happold, Henning Pangels, Mark Ollis, Kerien Fitzpatrick, and Anthony Stentz. The Demeter System for Automated Harvesting. Autonomous Robots, 13(1):9–20, 2002. URL: http://link.springer.com/10.1023/A: 1015622020131, doi:10.1023/A:1015622020131.
- [94] A. J. Scarfe, R. C. Flemmer, H. H. Bakker, and C. L. Flemmer. Development of an autonomous kiwifruit picking robot. In 2009 4th International Conference on Autonomous Robots and Agents, pages 380–384. IEEE, 2 2000. URL: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/4804023/, doi:10.1109/ICARA.2000.4804023.
- [95] Yawei Zhang, Yunxiang Ye, Zhaodong Wang, Matthew E Taylor, Geoffrey A Hollinger, and Qin Zhang. Intelligent In-Orchard Bin-Managing System for Tree Fruit Production. URL: http://research.engr.oregonstate.edu/rdml/sites/research.engr. oregonstate.edu.rdml/files/2015icra\_workshop\_binmanaging.pdf.
- [96] Filippo Bonaccorso, Domenico Longo, and Muscato Giovanni. The U-Go Robot. In A multifunction rough terrain outdoor tracked vehicle. World Automation Congress (WAC), 2012.
- [97] Pietro ASTOLFI. An Experiment in Autonomous Vineyard Navigation: The GRAPE Project. PhD thesis, Politecnico Milano, 2017.
- [98] Mostafa Sharifi. Enhanced Vision-Based Localization and Control for Navigation of Non-holonomic Omnidirectional Mobile Robots in GPS-Denied Environments. 2017. URL: https://ir.canterbury.ac.nz/bitstream/handle/10092/14660/ Sharifi%2C%20Mostafa%20final%20PhD%20thesis.pdf?sequence=1.
- [99] Stefan Ericson. VISION-BASED PERCEPTION FOR LOCALIZATION OF AU-TONOMOUS AGRICULTURAL ROBOTS. PhD thesis, University of Skövde, 2017.
- [100] Ming Li, Kenji Imou, Shirou Tani, and Shinya Yokoyama. Localization of Agricultural Vehicle Using Landmarks Based on Omni-directional Vision. URL: http://pdfs. semanticscholar.org/ce74/40f927b6a526e8ab5c7419fe01857329dbe2. pdf.

- [101] Sam Marden and Mark Whitty. GPS-free Localisation and Navigation of an Unmanned Ground Vehicle for Yield Forecasting in a Vineyard. URL: http://agribotics. blogs.lincoln.ac.uk/files/2014/07/paper\_4.pdf.
- [102] Jacqueline Libby and George Kantor. Deployment of a Point and Line Feature Localization System for an Outdoor Agriculture Vehicle. URL: https://www.ri.cmu.edu/pub\_ files/2011/5/jlibbyIcrallFinal.pdf.
- [103] Austin I. Eliazar and Ronald Parr. Learning probabilistic motion models for mobile robots. In *Twenty-first international conference on Machine learning - ICML '04*, page 32, New York, New York, USA, 2004. ACM Press. URL: http://portal.acm.org/ citation.cfm?doid=1015330.1015413, doi:10.1145/1015330.1015413.
- [104] Blaise Omer Yenké, Moussa Aboubakar, Chafiq Titouna, Ado Adamou, Abba Ari, and Abdelhak Mourad Gueroui. Adaptive Scheme for Outliers Detection in Wireless Sensor Networks. *International Journal of Computer Networks and Communications Security*, 5(5):105–114, 2017. URL: http://www.ijcncs.org/published/volume5/ issue5/p3\_5-5.pdf.
- [105] Héber Miguel Plácido Sobreira. Fiabilidade e robustez da localização de robôs móveis. PhD thesis, 7 2017. URL: https://repositorio-aberto.up.pt/handle/ 10216/105452.
- [106] Manika Saha, Bhaswati Goswami, and Ratna Ghosh. Two novel metrics for determining the tuning parameters of the Kalman Filter. URL: https://arxiv.org/pdf/1110. 3895.pdf.
- [107] Paul D. Groves. Kalman FIlter, Implementation Issues. In Principles of GNSS, Inertial, and Multisensor Integrated Navigation Systems, pages 74–77. Artech House, Boston/London, first edition, 2008.
- [108] INESC TEC. AgRob V16 Robotics for Agriculture and Forestry That works in steep slope viticulture. URL: http://agrob.inesctec.pt/.
- [109] Pozyx. Pozyx centimeter positioning for arduino. URL: https://www.pozyx.io/.
- [110] Pozyx Labs. Pozyx-Arduino-library. URL: https://github.com/pozyxLabs/ Pozyx-Arduino-library.
- [111] Pozyx Where to Place the Anchors. URL: https://www.pozyx.io/ Documentation/where\_to\_place\_the\_anchors.